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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results (for the year ended
30 June)
— Revenue
— Adjusted profit*
— Attributable profit
— Dividends
— Earnings per share
(in HK cents)

Financial Position (as at 30 June)

— Cash and cash equivalents”
— Total assets
— Equity”

Financial Ratios (as at 30 June)
— Current assets/Current liabilities

— Assets/Equity”
— Sales/Assets
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2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025%F 20245 20234 20225 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THT THET TET THL
151,280 162,279 128,737 127,756 139,069
27,060 5,724 9,694 4,558 5,669
27,060 5,724 9,694 4,658 5,689
8.05 2.18 3.72 2.06 2.62
138,707 109,308 100,760 108,260 118,848
307,575 242,416 223,951 210,187 216,680
222,112 165,412 134,593 133,279 107,663
2.65 2.32 2.01 2.13 1.95
1.38 1.47 1.66 1.68 2.01
0.49 0.63 0.57 0.61 0.64

*

+

#

Excluding reversal of impairment and/or impairment

Excluding overdrafts

Attributable to owners of the Company
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Redesignated to executive director on
8 January 2025 and resigned on 2 August 2025)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

AUDITOR

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Level 35, Tower 1, Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay
Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
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Grand Cayman KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

TRICOR INVESTOR SERVICES LIMITED
17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY HOMEPAGE/WEBSITE

www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059

STOCK CODE

1059

INFORMATION AND ENQUIRIES

Investor Relations

Kantone Holdings Limited

Unit 27A, 9/F, Block B,

Focal Industrial Centre,

No. 21 Man Lok Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

e-mail: ir@kantone.hk
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Kantone Holdings Limited and the
management team, | am honored to present the Group’s annual report for
2025.

Throughout the year, the Group has continued to operate its business
mainly through its wholly owned subsidiary in the UK. The principal
subsidiary, Multitone Electronics PLC (“Multitone”), reported a slight
decrease as compared with last year. This decline was partly due to the
resolution of supply chain issues and the earlier-than-expected fulfillment
of emergency services orders in 2024. Despite this, the Group maintained
consistent revenue throughout the year, reflecting three years of strong sales
performance.

Gross margin remained consistent, while overheads were increased by only 1%,
primarily due to higher employment-related costs in the UK, indicating stable
core operational profitability.

Cash increased significantly from approximately HK$109.3 million to
approximately HK$138.7 million, reflecting a strong and improving
cash position, which is vital to Multitone’s business since, on top of the
technological advantages, Multitone’s ability to maintain a strong cash
position and to provide sufficiently long credit terms are also key factors in
winning tenders.

From the operations perspective, the UK faced domestic and international
challenges, including high interest rates, increased business costs, and
global trade disruptions. Despite this, Multitone continued to invest in new
technologies and platforms to position itself as a leader in critical messaging
solutions. A group-wide rebranding initiative was launched to strengthen the
company’s market presence and build trust with stakeholders.

The market growth is driven by the need to modernize outdated
communication systems, such as analog radios with limitations like short
range and poor clarity. The Group’s Research and Development Team has
kept delivering enhanced, secure digital solutions are replacing these systems
to improve efficiency and ensure singular, secure communication.

Advancements in critical communication networks, including 4G, LTE, 5G,
and private wireless systems, have enhanced speed, reliability, and reach
for mission-critical applications. 5G, with use cases like eMBB and URR,
supports low-latency, high-data-rate tasks in sectors such as search and
rescue, disaster response, and manufacturing. By the end of 2025, over
80% of critical communicators are expected to adopt advanced LTE and
5G, contributing 10% of global critical communications by 2027. These
technologies integrate with loT devices, enabling real-time monitoring and
secure messaging solutions.

23 B IR AP

ERAFEBEMARAANESRRELE
B A A i R R 2 % W2025%F [
8 o

REBE2FRHREEFBERNEBNEZENW
BARalKE ¥R £ 2K B 2A & Multitone
Electronics PLC ([ Multitone |) 9 % 45 8% 2= F %
B & o bt T E0 o IR P 1 FE 5 RE O AR OR
AR2024 FE S RBATENINERERERNTE
H-BENY SEE2FERNRERE R
B EBE - FHARHEERSE -
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DEENBEERRITRE

I8 & 1 49109,300,00078 JT A 18 1 i1 & 4
138,700,000/ 70 - R B B HBEHREN
B[S o IR & E F ¥ Multitone ) 2 75 = 4
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

A recent IDC report reveals that 50% of companies in North America and
Europe are investing in modernizing communication systems to meet
security, backup, and fast communication standards. Critical messaging
advancements, such as mHealth integration with EHRs, enhance
collaboration and efficiency. Legacy systems incur high maintenance costs,
often 15-20% of infrastructure budgets, driving upgrades for cost savings and
energy efficiency. As organizations prioritize safeguarding communications,
the global critical messaging market is poised for growth.

The Group’s marked its significant technology breakthrough through
the launch of the Multitone Nucleus™ cloud-based messaging solution,
developed in partnership with Amazon Web Services (AWS). This platform
offers a resilient, device-agnostic critical messaging application, enhancing
Multitone’s market position. Further development phases will focus on
healthcare, estate management, and retail operations. The EkoTek® family
of products continued to perform well in the personal security and nurse call
markets, with new IK10-rated devices scheduled for release in the fourth
quarter of 2025.

Despite the economic environment remains challenging, with modest
economic growth and persistent inflation, Multitone’s recent product launch,
Multitone Nucleus ™, presents significant growth opportunities, particularly
in healthcare, emergency services, and adjacent industries. The platform’s
subscription-based model offers a stable revenue stream. The company also
plans to invest in advanced software features and expedite the release of
future hardware solutions.

The upcoming release of Multitone Evolve™, a next-generation 2-way
messaging device, will extend support for critical messaging solutions in
healthcare markets. Additional investment in Project Aura will develop the
successor to the EkoTek® family of products, enhancing integration with loT
solutions.

Therefore, the Group’s strategic investments in technology, branding,
and market expansion position the Company for growth in a challenging
environment. The Multitone Nucleus™ platform and upcoming product
releases are key drivers of future success. The Group would further invest
in the runway of Artificial Intelligence to enhance its existing products and
explore new projects.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to convey our profound thanks to our
esteemed customers, valued suppliers, trusted business partners, and loyal
shareholders for their steadfast support throughout these turbulent economic
conditions. Additionally, | would like to offer my sincere gratitude to every
member of the Group’s workforce for their unwavering commitment and
remarkable achievements in navigating the complexities of an uncertain social
and business environment.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

Beyond our conventional business endeavors, our management team is
steadfastly dedicated to venturing into cutting-edge technologies, with a
particular focus on Atrtificial Intelligence and green energy projects. These
strategic initiatives not only hold the potential to deliver substantial financial
gains for the Group but also play a pivotal role in fostering a more sustainable
and environmentally conscious world.

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong

26 September 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Multitone’s growing success in the government sector is directly linked to its
advanced technology and mastery of working capital intensity. Winning these
substantial contracts hinges on our ability to offer extended credit terms
and guarantee rapid project execution — both of which require superior
liquidity and inventory management. Rather than a challenge, this financial
commitment is our competitive edge, positioning us as a reliable, high-
capacity partner for time-sensitive government initiatives.

The UK faced several domestic and international headwinds. Domestic
challenges include the lingering effects of high interest rates, as well as the
impact of increases in National Insurance and the National Living Wage on
business costs and investment. Globally, geopolitical tensions and trade
frictions, particularly the introduction of new tariffs, caused trade disruption
and restrained growth.

Multitone continues to invest in new technologies, including Al and platforms
to position itself as a leading provider of critical messaging solutions as
growth recovers.

An exciting group wide re-brand was announced during the period. In an
increasingly competitive landscape, sending a consistent, cohesive, and
controlled message about who we are is critical. Our brand is more than just
a logo; it's the sum of every interaction, every piece of communication, and
every visual cue which reflects our commitment to quality, professionalism,
and distinctive style across all touchpoints.

The new branding will help us to build trust and credibility among our
customers, partners, and stakeholders. It will amplify the effectiveness of our
marketing and communications efforts, contributing directly to our goals and
market position.

Our vision is to be the leading provider of integrated communications and
automation solutions, helping people embrace the opportunities provided by
apps and the Internet of Things whilst guaranteeing business continuity with
intelligent systems and robust radio technologies.

The Group reported a total revenue for the twelve months ended 30 June
2025 of approximately HK$151 milion as compared with approximately
HK$152 million for the fiscal year 2024, representing an decrease of
approximately 0.7%. Most of the revenue was generated by Multitone
Electronics PLC, our principal subsidiary in the United Kingdom. Performance
in the prior fiscal year included a combination of the fulfilment of a significant
order backlog due to supply chain issues which are now resolved, combined
with the earlier than anticipated receipt and fulfilment of emergency services
orders in the period.
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MBRE

ERFSMMAXB AR A REROKT > EE
FERMMHEEERATEENEEENE
BEHBE - -BEELERSONER  ERXRHM
EMREERNERGRELREREANITE
- CEMEEREFUNESADERLTR
EHREN - ERMBARFRETZKE R
MmERMOZFES - ERPFIKSELE M
HRMERNTERER ISESAHINEE
B

REERZEERAN RIS - ERALEE
ERAXNBsEYE URBRRBRESER
REEBTIERANTHEERABIREEXNE
E-2RERSH HEABARRRRAEZEE S
BE BHERFAHNER SRES5THL
IR R

BEZ I EE P MultitonetS BIRERFTRIT B
FBALSRE UL EEABRZAERRS
REBH-ERAHAL

AEBRAHHEEMRT —BSARENRE
ERFE - ERFHIBNNRES - FRH
REMEOOG — EEAXENALEH
EZ -EMANRETEERE —ERE MEE
—REH BRERAR SERETENE
MGt EARBRBRMEMBEBR Y
mnE - B EAEE IR AR ARG

FmETRBEENRRMETES,  GEBH
R SEEE BRI EERERARFE - 8
BRATHERBTHENRY BEREED
X BBRERLBRICTIHIAL -

HMPWBESsEXAEEBAEAB LRI
ENREHER  BBAMEEERENR
VEREERNEE REEBESARER
fRaERERMERET R EER -

B E2025F6 A0 M2 AR SEMNAE
WAKABIS1EB T L —F 4 AB152E
BT RPN BE0T% e BRI EZRARA
B A E &) £ 2 7 A & Multitone  Electronics
PLC- FEMBREEMEERE  EaWER
X H—RAHEERBEERNAKEREELT
BERARMN (ZEEBRERR) EZR%ZH
MABRSRETENEERBITEERES

hE Rl



EIRE Mo (58)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RESULTS (continued)

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2025, the profit attributable to the owners
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$27.1 million, compared with
profit of approximately HK$5.7 million in the prior period.

The gross margin percentage was consistent with the prior period, indicating
consistent profitability from core operations.

This increase in profits is attributable to the combined effect of the gain (fair
values loss in prior year) on financial assets and decrease in distribution costs
during the review period. The gross margin percentage remained relatively
stable throughout the year, reflecting consistent profitability from our core
operations.

For the fiscal year ended 30 June 2025, distribution costs were recorded at
approximately HK$25.9 million, a slight decrease from HK$27.5 million in the
previous period. This decrease in costs is attributed to reduced sales.

General and administrative expenses for the period under review totaled
approximately HK$56.9 million, compared to HK$54.4 million in the previous
period, representing a 4.6% increase.

Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately HK$0.3 million from
approximately HK$0.5 million as compared with the fiscal year 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

As part of the Group’s short term investment activities, the Group has
invested in some Hong Kong listed securities, the details and information of

which are as follows:

As at 30 June 2025, the fair value of the listed equity investments in
Hong Kong classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$10.5 million (30 June 2024: approximately
HK$0.4 million). This investment portfolio comprised 3 (30 June 2024: 1)
equity security listed in the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

A summary of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

are given below:

XD E

AR EEERREEDH Y B AEEE
RAETEBLTRS FHREHERE
HEHWT -

R2025F6 H30H O EMBAE LMBESHFEK
BRAVEFACREERBZL A1,0508 %5
JC(2024F 6 A308 : X408 B L) - B Z S
KEHEPRESHEZH(2024F6 A30H : —18)
REBBAERGMBRAR (B ER
ETHES -

AEBEAABEFAEGZEREERE
E5WT :

Percentage of
Number of the issued share Accumulated
shares held by capital of the unrealised
the Group at  relevant company Investment cost fair value Fair value at
Company Name/Stock Code AREB/ RARE Notes 30 June 2025 at30 June 2025 at30June2025  gain/(loss) 30 June 2025
A&E R-B-HE
R-BZHF ABEZtHZ R-ZZEF ERAZE R-B-HF
AEZtH HEBARERT AA=1H AAEE ~A=tH
Bt 2% FEZRAHUBE RARER DL ZREREX Wi/ (BB) ZAREE
% HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value RAABEFABEZ
through profit or loss SREE
China Environmental Resources Group R EIRSEEREEHR A A
Limited (Stock code: 1130) (B R5% < 1130) 1 14,660,000 3.00% 3,331,600 5,317,800 8,649,400
Champion Technology Holdings Limited ~ BE R Z £ @B R A 7
(Stock code: 92) (B 5% - 92) 2 8,736,000 0.89% 1,951,848 (257,064) 1,694,784
STAR CM Holdings Limited EREXERBEBAA
(Stock code: 6698) (Rt 1 5% - 6698) 3 101,000 0.03% 2,676,500 (2,481,570) 194,930

7,959,948 2,579,166 10,539,114
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes:

1130 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (“CER”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “CER Group”) are principally engaged in metal recycle business,
motor and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money lending
business, hotel and related business, securities trading and investment business and
distribution of plantation products, environmental system and plantation materials.

According to CER Group annual report 2024, CER Group recorded revenue of
approximately HK$82.8 million and total comprehensive loss of approximately
HK$73.3 million. CER Group remained on track and their business was considered as
sustainable.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 14,660,000 shares in CER Group and the
Group recorded an accumulated unrealised gain of HK$5,317,800 in respect of such
investment.

Champion Technology Holdings Limited

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (“Champion Technology”) and its subsidiary
(collectively referred to as the “Champion Technology Group”) are principally
engaged in the sales of smart construction solution business, sales of loT Solution
Business, sales of SPV systems and Green energy business.

According to Champion’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, Champion
Technology Group recorded a revenue of HK$209 million, and a total comprehensive
loss of HK$14.7 million. Champion Technology Group remained on track and their
business was considered as sustainable.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 8,736,000 Shares in Champion Technology
Group and the Group recorded an accumulated unrealised loss of approximately
HK$257,000 in respect of such investment.

6698 STAR CM Holdings Limited

STAR CM Holdings Limited (“STAR CM”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “STAR CM Group”) are principally engaged in creating, operating and holding
entertainment IPs.

According to STAR CM’s annual report for year ended 31 December 2024, they are of
the view that the general outlook of China’s entertainment IP industry and the business
environment in which they operates will remain promising in the future.

XK EE@®

ot aE

1130F BB REREBER AT

FPRRREREBEAGR AR (CER]) REK B
Al(MBAICEREE) X ZRECB R WEK
FERGELRGER FEUHEE HEX®L-
@E&m%%ﬁ\% REMTEEBIAREE

Ef BREZRHANBEMBHDHE -

1B #R CER &K B 2024 4F 4 ¥ - CER& B £ 15 L A
#/38,2808 BT ARG EIEA /T30 T o
CEREEMERRIFELEHN L W WR AR
B o

B ZE 202546 A30 H - B ;5 CERS [E14,660,000
B WREEHANYZEERERBERERRBA
5,317,800/ T °

BENEEEERAQA

BEMREEFRAR((BERK])) REHE R
AGE CENREE]) T 2N EESZEMR
REB MBBBRRATRER KGREEEXR
R E AR EREIRET
REBENREB024FFH - BERREE &
BRAKNB2.00EET  GABRNAR14708E
ToBEMBEENEBRIFTLEY  THRRLSZ
BESE K

HZE202566A30F SEFAEENEEER
8,736,000 A% I 7 [l 8 HA P ¥ 7% 1% & 8718 25tk
B IR 55 18 #9257,00078 T °

66982 ZEXERARAH

ETEXERERARN(ELEX ) RAKEA
7 (57 Eriiilhixﬁéﬂ BB R
HAREP -

BEETEXEEHEHE2024F12A31H L2 F
FH ZEEARATEAXRIPEENEEAIS M
SEMENEAERBEERRDBIETAH -

EBREEARAR 2025F F 1

11



BHEE Lo (8)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
3. 6698 STAR CM Holdings Limited (Continued)

According to STAR CM’s annual report for year ended 31 December 2024, the STAR
CM recorded revenue of approximately RMB163.1 million and total comprehensive
loss of approximately RMB221.4 million.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held 101,000 shares in STAR CM and the Group
recorded an accumulated unrealized loss of approximately HK$2.48 million in respect
of such investment.

Multitone Nucleus™ — Cloud and on-premises messaging
solution

Our move to an agile software development model at the beginning of the
period has proved successful, as our new cloud-based messaging solution
Multitone Nucleus ™ was launched during the period. This is the culmination
of a multi-year development project to build a cloud based resilient messaging
platform for the future. Through our partnership with Amazon Web Services (‘AWS”)
the Multitone Nucleus™ platform offers a resilient device agnostic critical
messaging application, combined with support for on-premises paging. This
gives Multitone a unique selling proposition in our core markets.

Further phases of development together with the infusion of Al technology will
provide features for clinical collaboration in healthcare, estate management
and retail operations, and will support the delivery of critical messages to our
new Multitone Evolve ™ messaging device.

Multitone continues to maintain support for our highly successful Multitone
i-Message® critical messaging platform, supporting existing customers in
public sector healthcare in the UK and around the world.

EkoTek® family of products
Multitone continues to be successful in the personal security, lone worker and
nurse call market in Germany.

New IK10 rated anti-vandal and anti-ligature devices are scheduled for release
in the fourth quarter of 2025 which will greatly enhance our sales proposition
in the UK where we have been successful in sales of EkoTek® solutions to the
mental healthcare market.

Sales of MaBLE in our German market continue to disappoint with lower than
anticipated sales volumes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Iconic Projects

Building on our prior successes, we have achieved significant sales in the
UK emergency services market. We secured contracts with several regions,
including Norfolk, Hertfordshire, and Tyne & Wear Fire & Rescue Authority.
These deals covered the manufacture, delivery, and installation of station end
equipment, enhancing operational efficiency for these emergency services.

In the UK healthcare sector, we secured new contracts with key NHS Trusts,
such as Manchester NHS University Foundation Trust and South West
London and St George’s Mental Health NHS Trust. These new partnerships
enable us to support critical communications for leading healthcare providers,
ensuring reliable messaging for urgent medical needs.

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, valued at
approximately HK$550,000 (as at 30 June 2024: HK$567,000) have been
held for trading and resale in the ordinary course of business. They were
included in the inventories of the Group as at 30 June 2025.

A general economic slowdown has led to reduced consumer spending,
particularly on non-essential items such as artifacts and collectibles.

All such cultural products, totalling 143 pieces, have been kept in a secured
warehouse run by a world-renowned security solution company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

During the year under review, the Company’s PRC subsidiary entered into
one lending contract (the “Loan”) with one PRC company, which is an
independent third party. The amount of the Loan is RMB2.5 million (30 June
2024: RMB2.5 million). The terms of the Loan are for a period of twelve
months started from the drawdown date, and the interest rate is 8% per
annum. The Loan is properly backed by a guarantor whose financial strength
is considered strong enough to act as the guarantor of this loan.

Money lending services were provided by the Company’s subsidiary in the
Mainland of China (Mainland). The Mainland subsidiary has never presented
itself to the public as a money lender nor sought out borrowers for loans. In
Hong Kong, money lending occurred on a sporadic basis, contingent upon
the availability of funds and referrals from the directors, as the Company
did not engage in marketing of these services. Consequently, the Directors
do not view money lending as a principal or core business of the Company
during this fiscal year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The lending activities were limited to term loans with fixed interest rates.
Each proposed loan was evaluated individually, with no specific industry
designated for lending purposes. However, the Company does maintain a
money lending checklist that the Directors must adhere to if the need arises.
Loans are only issued from idle funds and are extended solely to individuals
or their companies who approach the subsidiary’s directors through personal
connections. The directors then conduct a credit assessment, and if the
results are satisfactory, they submit their recommendations to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further evaluation and approval.

The assessment and Know Your Client (KYC) processes adhere to the
following procedures:

1. Verify the identities of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors (where
appropriate).

2. Confirm the address proof for both the borrowers and guarantors.

3 Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and the company
number, if applicable.

4. Review the memorandum and articles of association for both the
borrower and the guarantor, if applicable.

B Consult with external legal advisors, if necessary.

After collecting and verifying the background information of the prospective
borrowers, the director of our Hong Kong money-lending operation or
the director from the Mainland subsidiary will conduct a loan assessment
process. This includes evaluating the creditworthiness and financial standing
of the borrowers by reviewing the management accounts, and the personal
financial background of the guarantor, where applicable.

Taking into account the borrower’s financial condition, the extent and quality
of collaterals or guarantees, as well as the loan tenure, the director of the
Hong Kong money-lending operation or the relevant Mainland subsidiary
will propose an interest rate aimed at rationalising profit while ensuring
compliance with the interest rate regulations in Hong Kong and the Mainland.
This is to ensure that we do not impose interest rates exceeding the statutory
limits. Normally, the Mainland subsidiary will charge no less than double the
China Loan Prime Rate (CLPR), while the Hong Kong money lender will add a
reasonable premium atop the Hong Kong Prime Rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS (continued)

The due diligence report, KYC documentation, and credit assessment
documents, along with the loan amount, terms, and repayment method, will
be submitted to the Group’s directors for approval. Once approval is granted,
the final loan agreement will be executed by our director of the Mainland
subsidiary, along with the borrower and the guarantor.

The directors of the Hong Kong money lending company or the relevant
Mainland subsidiary will maintain personal contact with the borrowers
periodically throughout the duration of the loan. They will begin reminding the
borrowers about repayment approximately one month before the respective
due dates.

The following are our standard procedures for handling delinquent loans:
A demand letter will be sent to the borrower requesting immediate repayment.

Our legal counsel in Hong Kong or the Mainland will be instructed to issue a
demand letter to both the borrower and the guarantor, demanding immediate
repayment.

Formal legal action will be initiated if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  No settlement arrangement is reached within 14 working days from the
date of our legal demand letter.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no signs that any Loan would become delinquent.

OUTLOOK

[t has been an incredibly challenging business environment for the group in
the reporting period, with significant disruption to the public sector due to
industrial action in the UK.

The economic outlook is characterised by a period of modest, albeit slowing,
economic growth and persistent, but moderating, inflation. Central banks
have been cutting interest rates, but future cuts are uncertain as banks are
closely monitoring persistent inflation, particularly in the services sector. The
economic landscape remains clouded by global uncertainties, including
geopolitical tensions and trade policy changes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOO K (Continued)

We continue to target growth in our core markets of Healthcare and
Emergency Services in the UK, as well as addressing new markets.

The Company’s recent product launch, Multitone Nucleus™, is a significant
development. This is a new platform designed to be a central hub for real-
time communication and collaboration, particularly in critical industries like
healthcare and public safety. This new offering aligns with the company’s
core strengths and demonstrates a commitment to innovation.

Leveraging the Multitone Nucleus™ platform presents the most immediate
and significant growth opportunity. By positioning it as a comprehensive,
integrated, and secure solution for critical communication we can expand
market share to new clients in our established sectors (healthcare, emergency
services) as well as adjacent critical industries like logistics, manufacturing,
and utilities.

The platform’s nature offers opportunities for subscription-based models and
long-term service contracts, which will provide a stable future revenue stream.

While the Company has a history in hardware, the future of communication
is increasingly software and services driven. Multitone has an opportunity to
invest further in developing advanced software features for its platforms, such
as Al-driven analytics, predictive alerts, and enhanced security protocols, to
increase their value proposition.

As we enter the new fiscal year, we have already established a significant
pipeline for the Multitone Nucleus™ solution. Our International Sales team has
secured the first significant order for Multitone Nucleus™ with a contract to
supply a critical communication solution to the Falkland Islands government,
a British overseas territory.

The key to delivering growth is our continued investment in R&D, including
Al technology. Our adoption of agile software development methods has
expedited the release of Multitone Nucleus™, our partnership with external
development resources will help us to expedite the release of future hardware
solutions.

Our next generation 2-way device supports receipt of messages over
traditional RF networks as well as communication via Wi-Fi and Bluetooth
Low Energy (“BLE”). Despite previous delays in the design phase, the
development team worked tirelessly during the period to recover from the
delay and to deliver the new device as early as possible.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

0 UTLOOK (Continued)

The product has now reached the pilot manufacturing stage and will shortly
be entering the product approvals stage before release to market in the fourth
quarter of 2025.

This new device will allow Multitone to extend support for dedicated devices
in critical messaging solutions in our core healthcare markets for many years
to come and will become the successor to the traditional paging device.

The new fiscal year will see the commencement of a £1 million (approximately
HK$10.9 million) investment in R&D to develop the next generation and
successor to our EkoTek® family of products.

The new product family will offer increased bandwidth and performance to
allow greater integration and improved support for IOT solutions.

The UK remains our largest market, and whilst Sales have reduced in the
period under review, we have still seen substantial Revenue and Sales intake.

The new releases of Multitone Nucleus™ and the pending release of Multitone
Evolve™ will give the group a unique selling proposition, as we will be able to
provide both cloud and on-premises critical messaging in a single integrated
solution.

Sales in Germany were HK$30.59 million for the period under review,
compared to HK$33.57 million in the previous period.

During the period under review, we have appointed a new distributor
Pewna Lacznosc in Poland to expand our reach and grow our revenue in
International Sales.

Sales to the Irish Republic were our largest market outside of Germany in the
EU during the period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

OUTLOO K (Continued)

Oceania — New Zealand & Australia

Sales to this region remain strong but are again largely attributable to sales of
third-party cordless telephony products into Australia, and EkoTek® products
into New Zealand.

US Market

We have taken steps to identify new partners in this region, and we are
confident that progress will be made to re-establish sales in this region during
the new fiscal year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial position remained positive.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had approximately HK$138.7 million (2024:
approximately HK$109 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$217.3 million
(2024: approximately HK$172 million) and current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$82.0 million (2024: approximately HK$74 million). With
net current assets of approximately HK$135.4 million (2024: approximately
HK$98 million), the Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. As
at 30 June 2025, the Group had no borrowings (2024: no borrowings) and
a zero gearing ratio (2024: zero gearing ratio of the Group, defined as the
Group’s total borrowings to equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was zero).

The Company has been maintaining sufficient cash levels to enable it to meet
its liabilities as they fall due. Management reviews cashflow forecasts on a
regular basis to ensure sufficient cash reserves to meet future working capital
requirements and to take advantage of business opportunities.

Finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2025 was approximately
HK$334,000 (2024: approximately HK$505,000).

The Group’s UK subsidiary company experienced a steady increase in
operating cash flow throughout the year, signifying robust cash generation
from core operations. There were substantial cash outflows from investing
activities, primarily for investments in inventory, plant, and equipment. In
line with other government entities globally, it will be necessary to extend
longer-than-usual credit terms to this category of special customers. Our
UK subsidiary therefore has higher internal funding requirements, which
necessitate maintaining significantly larger cash reserves as the business
expands. Despite these significant cash outflows, the company managed to
achieve a net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

BERBMERBBEER®

2024 Placing

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group completed a fund-
raising exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross
proceeds of approximately HK$14.8 million, with the net proceeds
therefrom being reserved for the general working capital of the Group
and investment in potential sectors should the opportunities arise (the “2024
Placing”).

The placing of new shares has been completed on 17 June 2024 and
a total of 52,086,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.295
per Placing Share were placed to not less than six Placees. The net
price of each Placing Share received was approximately HK$0.28. The
market price of the share of the Company on 24 May 2024, being the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

A.

BEREMERBBEER®

2024 Placing (Continued) A. 2024 FBLE (&)
Up to 30 June 2025, the Group utilised the net proceeds of the 2024 202566 A30H « A& B 2 #) 2024
Placing as follows: FREEFEMBZREBFREIETI
R
Unused net
Utilisation up to proceeds up to
Allocation the financial the financial
of net period ended period ended
proceeds 30 June 2025 30 June 2025
REE2025F
REZ2025F 6H30H Lt
Fi 18 F1E 6H30H L BBHBERSAZ
Intended use of net proceeds 8 F B FHEEH T AR FHEIE MBHEEEHA RS RIEFR
HK$ (million) HK$ (million) HKS$ (million)
B (EE) B (EE) B (EE)
General working capital of REB-—REEES
the Group 14.8 10.5 4.3
14.8 10.5 4.3
The Company will keep the expected timetable to use the unused net NN S P [ RN I S - NN =T
proceeds balance according to the intentions previously disclosed by BreBTReERARBAZMBREF
the Company within twelve months. FHaE R o
2025 Placing B. 2025F &

On 21 January 2025, the Company entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to place, on a
best effort basis, maximum of 62,505,000 placing shares (the “2025
Placing”).

The placing of new shares was completed and a total of 62,505,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.172 per placing share
were placed to not less than six placees on 13 February 2025. The
net proceeds from the placing, after deducting placing commission,
professional fees and all related expenses, amounted to approximately
HK$10.5 million. The net price of each Placing Share received was
HK$0.168. The market price of the share of the Company on 21
January 2025, being the date on which the terms of the issue were
fixed, was HK$0.191. The Company intends to use the net proceeds
mainly for general working capital of the Group and the acquisition of
industrial premises in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

B. 2025 Placing (Continued)

BERBMERBBEER®

B. 2025%F i & (%)

Date of Net proceeds
Announcement  Fund raising activity raised Intended use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
Frd%z
D B REED FrB R ERE FBRERERE FERERRER
13 February Placing of new Ordinary shares  Approximately For working capital of the Group and ~ Used as intended
2025 under general mandate HK$10.5 million acquisition of industrial premises in ARBERS
20252A313H WRE—MEERES 4710,500,000/8 7L Hong Kong, which is in accordance
ARk with the intention previously disclosed
by the Company
AEB7—REEESURKE
UREBNIEMEARER
NAIER PR E M AR
Unused net
Utilisation up to proceeds up to
Allocation the financial the financial
of net period ended period ended
proceeds 30 June 2025 30 June 2025
RE Z2025F
REZ2025F 6 A30H Lt
Fri8 A 6H30H L BBHBEARSAZ
Intended use of net proceeds FiIEREFZHEBREAER FHEIE MRPEECHA BB FHE
HKS$ (million) HK$ (million) HK$ (million)
BT(ER) BT(EE) BT (EE)
Working capital of the Group AEBEZ —MREEE
and acquisition of industrial U RWEALNE S
premises in Hong Kong M ITEME 10.5 9.3 1.2
10.5 9.3 1.2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

The Group is committed to managing its financial resources prudently and to
maintaining a positive liquid financial position with reasonable low gearing. The
Group finances its operation and business development by a combination of
internally generated resources and from the capital market.

The group’s sales to its customers in Europe are in Euros, and to its
customers in other countries in US Dollars and Pound Sterling, therefore
the group is exposed to movements in the Euro and US Dollar to Sterling
exchange rate. The group also sources products in Euros and US Dollars and
therefore minimises the risk of exchange rate fluctuations by the operation
of both Euro and US Dollar currency bank accounts. The group trades with
companies and organisations in more than 30 countries around the world.
This geographical spread facilitates a reduced exposure to any particular
region of the world where exchange rate risks may occur.

As the level of borrowing was minimal during the year under review, there was
no currency risk exposure associated with the Group’s borrowings.

The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or structured
product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative activities.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through matching
foreign exchange income with expense and, where significant exposure to
foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments may be
used.

Management deems the exposure on interest rate risk to be low since the
Group’s borrowing has been maintained at a very low level.

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2025 (2024
Nil).

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with the aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$11.1 million (30 June 2024:
approximately HK$10.1 million) have been pledged as collaterals for the
defined benefit retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries operating in UK.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charges on assets as
at 30 June 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)
Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2024
Nil).

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments
or capital assets

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and no future plans for
material investments or capital assets during the year ended 30 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (“Mr. Chan”), has been an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company since December 2021. Mr. Chan,
aged 63, has over 30 years of experience in the trading and distribution
business. In 1990, he started his own business in the automotive industry.
From 2008 to 2010, he held around 90% equity interest in Richard Mille
Macau Limited, which was the sole agent for Richard Mille in Macau. From
2011 to 2014, he held 55% equity interest in Symphony Lotus Limited,
which was an automotive wholesaler and distributor for sports cars and the
sole agent for Lotus Cars in the PRC. Apart from actively participating in the
trading and distribution industry, Mr. Chan also ventured into the hotel and
property development industry. He is currently the director of Golden Bauhinia
International Hotel, a 4-star hotel located in Nanning City of Guangxi Province
in the PRC. His first venture into property development in Malaysia Kuala
Lumpur is a residential development project known as Pavilion Ceylon Hill
in which he owns 49% equity stake. He is also a director of and owns 20%
equity interest in Sering Manis Sdn Bhd, which owns 280 acres of freehold
land at Pahang, Malaysia, which is about 11 kilometres away from the peak
of Genting Highlands. The project is currently in its planning stage. He is also
a director of Buddhist Li Chong Yuet Ming Nursing Home for the Elderly, a
nursing home in Hong Kong.

As at the date of report, Mr. Chan, through his controlled corporation
Innovative City Investments Limited, is interested in 68,628,444 Shares,
representing approximately 18.29% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

* For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai, aged 61, has been an independent non-executive
Director since October 2017. Mr. Leung has extensive experience in
accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently
an independent non-executive director of Champion Technology Holdings
Limited (stock code: 92). Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited) (stock
code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant during 1992 to 1996 in
Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock Exchange
on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung had also been an independent non- executive
director of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code: 6898), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, during
the period from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr. Leung is the chief
financial officer and company secretary of Da Ming International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1090), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada, aged 53, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since July 2017. Ms. Chung has extensive experience
in auditing and accounting. Ms. Chung held various senior positions in
professional firms and commercial field, including accounting manager
of a listed company in Hong Kong. Ms. Chung holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from York University and a diploma in accounting from The School
of Professional and Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong.
Ms. Chung is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DI RECTO RS (Continued)

Mr. IP Wai Lun William (“Mr. Ip”), has been an independent non-executive
Director since December 2021. Mr. Ip, aged 69, has over 26 years of
investment banking experience in Asia, with a focus on Greater China and
Japan. Mr. Ip was the executive director in the mergers and acquisitions
department of SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2012
to January 2021. He served as the managing director and head of the
investment banking department of Cantor Fitzgerald (HK) Capital Markets
Ltd from 2010 to 2012. Prior to 2010, Mr. Ip has also worked at several
major investment banks of Chinese and European background. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Financial Analyst Charterholder of the CFA Institute, USA. Mr. Ip
has been a Responsible Officer for Type 6 (including giving advice on matters
falling within the ambit of The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs (as amended from time to time)) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO”). Mr. Ip obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics and
a Master of Science Degree in Economics from London School of Economics
and Political Science, University of London. He also earned a Master Degree
of Business Administration (MBA) from the Wharton School of Finance,
University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Ip has been an independent non-executive
director of Hopson Development Holdings Limited (Stock code: 754), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since May 2021.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Hing Cheong, was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 24 June 2025. Mr. Chong has over 17 years of experience in
auditing, financial management and corporate governance with experience
spanning from accounting firm to listed companies. Mr. Chong holds a
bachelor degree of Business Administration in Finance from the City University
of Hong Kong and he is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Edward PATERSON, aged 53, is the chief executive officer (“CEO”)
of Multitone. As CEQO, he is responsible for managing the overall operations
and resources of the group. He is also a director of several of the Group’s
subsidiaries. He has a strong IT and technical background, is a member
of the British Computer Society and a member of the Institute of Directors.
He is prioritising the development of new technologies and solutions into
the Multitone product portfolio to allow the group to realise the potential of
opportunities in new marketplaces. He joined the group in 2000 in an IT role
and has held positions within the IT and Operations Management and more
recently as Operations Director before becoming CEO on 1st January 2020.

Mr. Frank ROTTHOFF, aged 62, is the managing director of the German
operations and head of international market. He was also a director of
Multitone. He joined the Group in 2008 and has extensive experience in sales
and marketing management in the electronics industry. His earlier career
covered international sales of industrial machinery and process technology
before entering the semiconductor sector in 1989. He was responsible
for the sales and marketing of a leading European distributor of electronic
components before joining the Group.

Mr. Peter Lomax, aged 50, acts as the Sales & Marketing Director and a
member of the Multitone Board, Peter Lomax brings a wealth of experience
to his role. His career with the company spans two periods: an initial 13-year
tenure, followed by his return in 2012 as Director of Strategic Partnerships.
He was promoted to Director of Sales & Marketing in 2020 and earned a seat
on the Board in 2021.

Peter’s unique strength lies in his foundational experience in IT and technical
positions, which grants him an invaluable insight into Multitone’s solutions.
He now spearheads all UK Sales, Marketing, and Customer Service activities,
focusing on crafting and implementing strategic initiatives to accelerate
revenue growth.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the sale of systems products, software licensing and
customisation, leasing of systems products and trading of cultural products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2025 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 23. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 41 to 65. The above discussions form part
of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report at the same time
of this report in compliance with the provision set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners
are the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company
is committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with
its employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits. The Group also works
together with its business partners to provide high quality products and
services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 72 in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may declare
and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group,
the liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business
cycle of the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of Association”). The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 75 and note 28 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE
COMPANY

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2025 are
set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 164.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for the two years ended
30 June 2024 and 2025.
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DIRECTORS REPORT (Continued)

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and right of use
of assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 to 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Redesignated to executive director on
8 January 2025 and resigned on 2 August 2025)

Mr. LIU Ka Lim (Resigned on 8 January 2025)

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

With effect from 8 January 2025, Mr. Liu Ka Lim resigned as non-executive
director, chairman of the Investment Committee and the authorised
representative of the Company under Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Authorised
Representative”) with effect from 8 January 2025.

With effect from 8 January 2025, Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica redesignated from
a non-executive director to an executive director and was appointed as the
chairperson of the Investment Committee and the Authorised Representative
of the Company. Ms. To entitled to a director’s remuneration of HK$40,000
per month.

With effect from 2 August 2025, Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica resigned as
executive director, chairperson of the Investment Committee and the
Authorised Representative of the Company.

With effect from 2 August 2025, Mr. Chan Koon Wa was appointed as the
chairman of the Investment Committee and the Authorised Representative of
the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme since 23 December
2024. The Share Award Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. It is established to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible participants.

The Eligible Participants under the Share Award Scheme includes (a) the
directors and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and
any other person who is granted Awards as an inducement to enter into an
employment or engagement contract with any of these companies; (b) the
directors and employees of the holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
associated companies of the Company (i.e. the Related Entity Participants);
and (c) Service Provider who falls under the category or categories or who
may meet the eligibility criteria as specified under the Share Award Scheme.

Details of the Share Award Scheme of the Company are set out in Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As at the date of this report, no Shares have been awarded, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption. The selected
eligible participants are not required to provide consideration for being
granted the award shares under the Share Award Scheme.

Other than the share option schemes and share award scheme described
in Note 29 and Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen
years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

EEzRESRaRAR

R2025F6 A30H ' IRIBEFEH KB E KA (&
ERBERD]) F2K M EARGATRHE
B2 & MATE 8% - 8RR B Y 82C3
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2N EERARFNEIETHRAERERE
B Am T N\ 2TLERR G HE[AE
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& HEAKRODERESTHEE 2R RAE
R

Approximate
percentage

of the issued

share capital of the
relevant associated

Name of director Capacity Number of shares corporation
5B B AR E

BERTRAZ

EEgR g7 [igvig 4= OB
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa Interest of controlled corporation 68,628,444 (L) (Note 1) 18.29%

PR 7 2 St A SYEHEE (FF3E1)
Notes: B 5
1. As at 30 June 2025, these shares of the Company were held by Innovative City 1. R2025E6 A30H - " ARIZERMHBAARRAFE

Investments Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. CHAN Koon Wa, the current
Chairman and executive director of the Company. Mr. CHAN Koon Wa is deemed
to be interested in 68,628,444 shares of the Company, representing approximately
18.29% of the issued share of the Company held by Innovative City Investments
Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the relevant
associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the SFO), as at 30 June 2025 as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2025 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/
her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties”
under the applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
corporations or persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in securities” above) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

FERR

M2025F6 H30H  MEZME BEFEHFR
HEKRAEI[KEREETRIFZ2ECHME
8 FIEBFALT(EXESREZTHA
BrBELFEa AR —BIIEE AQFE
ERETETHABRINRARTRGD R IEEH
R R EEERIAE

Approximate
percentage
of the issued

Name of Shareholder Capacity Number of shares share capital*

HEBRTRAZ

RERE B & 1% R4 HE BRE D>

Innovative City Investments Limited Beneficial owner 68,628,444 (L) 18.29%
HWEIREBRA A EmEA A

PHUA GEK SENG Beneficial owner 40,000,000 (L) 10.66%
EmEB A

Tsang Wai Fan Beneficial owner 28,000,000 (L) 7.46%

£ 4+
=

BEBAA

Note: The letter “L.” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 30 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, according to the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, there
was no corporation or person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2025.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman lIslands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 27.1% of
the total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 8.7%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 21.7% of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted
to approximately 6.0%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders, which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2025, the Group employed about 163 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2025 were
approximately HK$76.0 million (2024: approximately HK$79 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the capabilities, performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual performance, salaries paid
by comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of the
relevant director.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such
permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
during the year and has remained in force as of the date of this annual report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2025, no claims were
made against the Directors.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme and share award scheme as disclosed
in this report, no equity- linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares, or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2025 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

Cheng & Cheng Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
26 September 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2025.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Codes, except for code provision C.2.1 as
explained in the paragraph headed “Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer”
below. The Board will review its corporate governance practice annually and
make necessary changes if necessary. Meetings were held throughout the
year under review and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes
were issued to Directors and senior management of the Group to ensure that
they were aware of issues regarding corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets
and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters. The day-
to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are
delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their responsibilities
include the implementation of decisions made by the Board, the co-ordination
and direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company
in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. The Board receives full support from senior executives to discharge
its responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained from the Board before
entering into any significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages
66 to 71 of this report.

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Executive Director

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Redesignated to executive director on
8 January 2025 and resigned on 2 August 2025)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. LIU Ka Lim (Resigned on 8 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada

Mr. IP Wai Lun William
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD (Continued)

Two of the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 24 to 27 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors provide to the Group
with a wide range of expertise and experience so that independent judgement
can be exercised effectively. They have also participated in Board meetings
and general meetings, dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on audit
committee, human resources and remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and scrutinized the Group’s performance and
reporting. Through their active participation, the management process of the
Company can be critically reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time appoint a
new Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD (Continued)

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of chairman is being performed by Mr. CHAN Koon Wa, who is also
being an executive Director, and he is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the chief executive officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no chief executive officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfiment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are appointed without a specific term but subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management
from time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least
3 days prior to the meeting. The secretary appointed for each meeting
also takes detailed minutes, and the Company keeps records of matters
discussed and decision resolved at the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EZ2g¢Z LR EAEw
MEET'NGS (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of the W& £202546 30 H uzif‘i' AERITZRERE KR
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee, BNEF & BHRZEEG ANEREFHE

B

nomination committee and investment committee held during the yearended E& - RLZLZE8e€UNLKREZEe e
30 June 2025 are set out below: EHEBRETN AT ¢
Human
Resources and
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
Name of Directors attend attend attend attend attend attend
Y74
BiHE/ BHE/ REREEZ BHE/ BHE/ BHE/
CEREEZ2 SRERLEEZ ANBERR RERLREZ GERHLEZ GERLEEZ
EENZF EZeeE ENZERSE FHZECS8E ERZE08E REZE88E RRAFAE
Executive Director
UITES
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman) 6/6 - - - - 11
B ELE(FE)
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (Redesignated to 6/6 - - - 11 11
execultive director on 8 January 2025 and
resigned on 2 August 2025)
HFFE L (R202541 F8HFIIT A
HITEERR20254852AFE)
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim (Resigned on 8 January 2025) 2/2 - - - 11 11
BEEELE(Ro025%1 H8ABIT)
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYEHTES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
ANBRAE
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
ERELL
Mr. IP Wai Lun William 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 - 11
REREE
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEET'NGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The secretary appointed for each meeting records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all
decisions resolved by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting
views expressed (if any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for
comment and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the company
secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also ensures that proper
Board procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations are
complied with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate, they may
retain the service of independent professional advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting or virtual
meeting instead of passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with
such conflict issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 23 December 2024. Details of major items discussed in that
general meetings are set out in the circular of the Company dated 29
November 2024.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as
to ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to
all Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2025 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EEzHIlRE

ERES(ERFUATESNBIFANTE
BV EEEBREEREZZARNAEMEUR
AEBEZEB Al AEERSRHERE
MEFEZARBERARFRHEZARER
@ LAEREBN S RDBHNA - AR
EEAXTEETS2AE REEREFTZE
RREMBE UARAEBEZEBREALRR
R-ZEFENREERREETZESREE
BN AW EE S BIE -

ARBHIRERESTIHBEERERRH
BENBILRHEBLEE - REE2025F
6ARALFEAMBEARESHLL 28
EXEERERANBBEDERBAN2 EE
BEZR WM ERILE M EANE R - E
REEBABIFTEARNENHESS
EHER - RES2EZEIWET

Type of Training
(Notes)

Name of Directors ESnR 1= 3138 B (B =)
Executive Director HITES
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman) BeR 5 2E S A () A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAKEHITESE
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai BRI A A B
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai BHEELT A B
Mr. IP Wai Lun William EEmLE A B
Notes: Bt 7 -
A Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums. A HEMTE BNE €38 HwmE-
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general  B: BEEMEER I REKSHTEAZRE - 4

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by
such Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was further revised and adopted
on 29 December 2022. As at 30 June 2025, the human resources and
remuneration committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai
Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun William.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee also reviewed matters relating
to share schemes under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. This committee
consults with the Chairperson and/or other Board members on its proposals
and recommendations and has access to professional advice, if necessary.
The human resources and remuneration committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held two meeting to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms
of reference which was revised and adopted on 1 July 2025. As at 30
June 2025, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. CHUNG
Sau Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun William.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, assist the Board in maintaining
a board skill matrix, making recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board, selecting
individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson and other executive
director, supporting the Company’s regular evaluation of the Board’s
performance; and to review and assess each Director’s time commitment
and contribution to the Board as well as the Director’s ability to discharge his
or her responsibilities effectively. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held two meeting
to review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms
of reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@ to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c)  to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2025, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. CHUNG
Sau Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun William. No member of the audit committee
is a former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years
from the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in
the auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continueq)

During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2024 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2024. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by Cheng & Cheng Limited, whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The audit committee has recommended to the Board that Cheng & Cheng
Limited be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings.
In line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval and
record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2025, the
investment committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Ms. TO Yin
Fong Cecilica (chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely,
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai and one executive of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the suitability
of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote sufficient
effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the
Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filing the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on appointment or
re- appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICIES
AND MECHANISM

The Board recognizes that a comprehensive corporate governance
management structure is crucial in helping the Company to implement its
strategies and policies effectively and consistently throughout the Group,
and safeguard the long-term interests of its shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company has established the following policies and mechanism and has
continuously reviewed them to ensure that the Group meets the requirements
of the applicable laws and regulations:

° Board Diversity Policy
. Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views Available to the Board
° Anti-corruption Policy

o Whistle-blowing Policy

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach
to achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that
diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates
and their contribution to the Board.

The Board is satisfied with board diversity. The current board gender diversity
has fulfilled the principle set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under
diversified perspectives is set out as follows:

4
Female
z
{3
= 2z
8
§ 8
o Independent
@ Non-executive
§ Directors
@ BUIEMTES
e 2
-
= Male
St
’
Executive
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Designation Gender
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

As at 30 June 2025, the ratio of male and female in the workforce by gender
and age of the Group (including executive directors and senior management)
is 68% and 32% respectively as set out above. The goal of a workplace
diversity is to create the right environment where people feel comfortable
working together with both collaboratively and effectively in an environment
without judgment; all staff is able to reach their full potential while working
as a team. The Group considers that the current composition of workforce
diversity objective (gender ratio, plan or measurable objectives for gender
diversity, factors or circumstances affecting the gender ratio, etc) had been
achieved at acceptable level.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

In compliance with code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, on 29 December
2022, the Company has established and adopted the mechanisms that was
to ensure a strong independent element, and independent views and input
are available to the board of directors of the Company (the “Mechanisms”).
The Mechanisms cover composition of the board and board committees;
independence assessment; compensation, Board’s decision making; and
review of the policy implementation. The Board will review the implementation
and effectiveness of the Mechanisms annually. At the meeting held on
26 September 2025, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanisms and considered that the Group was satisfied
with the independence status of all the independent non-executive directors.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

On 29 December 2022, the Company adopted an anti-corruption policy
(“Anti-Corruption Policy”) , this policy is to outline the Company’s
expectations and requirements on prevention, detection, reporting and
investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption and other similar irregularities;
and to provide information and guidance on recognizing and dealing with
bribery and corruption, the Company has established its group-wise anti-
corruption policy that complies with code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code.

Under the Anti-Corruption Policy, the Group has established the Code
of Business Conducts, and has put in place internal control mechanism
to prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other
misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties.

The Anti-Corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company has established a
whistle-blowing policy which forms an important part of its effective risk
management and internal control systems.

Under the whistle-blowing policy, the Group allows stakeholders to report
suspicious negligence, corruption, bribery and other misconduct to the Group
anonymously. All reported cases are investigated confidentially to ensure the
whistle-blower is protected.

The whistle-blowing policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with
the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$900,000 (2024: approximately
HK$900,000) and there was no non-audit services provided by the
Company’s external auditor (2024: approximately HK$210,000 (mainly
internal control review, risk management advisory and ESG report)).

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who
have confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2025, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
to provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year ended 30 June 2025, Mr. Chong Hing Cheong has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH THE
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy on 29
December 2022 with the objective of providing the Shareholders with equal
and timely access to information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them to
engage actively with the Company.

The Shareholders’ communication policy is regularly reviewed to ensure
its effectiveness during the Reporting Period. The Company has evaluated
the various channels of communication with shareholders and their
implementation and believes that the Shareholders’ communication policy
remains appropriate and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunities for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board.

All Directors attended the annual general meeting held on 23 December 2024
(the “2024 Annual General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed
by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue at the 2024 Annual General
Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2024 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Articles of Association.
An explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, two or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth (1/10) of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same
manner.

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Unit 27A, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial
Centre, No. 21 Man Lok Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
identity of the shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch
share registrar and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder
and that if the request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the
shareholders for consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature of the
Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by way
of a special resolution in an extraordinary general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in an
extraordinary general meeting other than by way of a special resolution
of the Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual
and interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of Board of Directors at Unit 27A, 9/F, Block B, Focal Industrial
Centre, No. 21 Man Lok Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059)
provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, the Articles of Association of the Company
were amended for the purposes of updating and bringing the Articles of
Association in line with the Listing Rules requirements in relation to electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers to their securities
holders after approval in the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

An up to date version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually. Management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring such systems,
while the Board oversees management in performing its duties on an ongoing
basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system. Such review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

[B B B R AP S 4 m)

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to  H IR AR T L&A Ef T 2446 &k E
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks X127 © LAE & W 34 Bl R B 15 8 £ 4 J”le =
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial ZA&EBE A A & A ﬂ CRERER ERE
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversightof FEE 7 EEEBm 25 HEE 2B AR E T

risk mitigation efforts.

“Top-down”
Overseeing,
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assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level
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“Bottom-up”
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The Board EE g

Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and internal control
systems;
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Sets strategic objectives;
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Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control systems;
Az R b B IR | E Ko A B BRI 2 AR
Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
ERFERRBIMERMAAZREREET &
Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
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Management &2 [E
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control systems; and
HE BHAEREREEMABEEGE &
Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.
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Audit Committee ERXZE g
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of the underlying
risk management and internal control systems.
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Operational Level & & [E @
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business; and
FEB B A AR EER &
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business operations and
functional areas.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in
our strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations.
The Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks
that are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners
are required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board
and Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COS0”) framework for internal controls and has five components, namely
Control Environment; Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of
the plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches
our ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.

Due to the changing business environment and development including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day- to-day
basis by operating units.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of employees
on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve
confidentiality.

° Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are the designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties such
as the media, analysts or investors.

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“IA”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to provide assistance in
the |A function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.

System Products

Loss of market share and the uncertainties are the risks we are facing it, great
change is taking place with each passing day on the stage of the internet
and technology world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities
in technology innovation to broaden the market share and keep investing in
products research and development.

The Group operates its businesses in Hong Kong, USA, Euro and UK
and transactions are denominated in HKD, USD and Pound. The value of
Pound against HKD and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by,
among others, changes in the economic conditions and policies. However,
fluctuations in the exchange rates of Pound would have limited impact on the
Group’s operations because the portion of revenue from UK will be used and
refinanced in UK.

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the
risk management and internal control system were effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has
been identified. During the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were adequate.
Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant
in strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

BRI s ER F R AT A RS

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Kantone Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kantone Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 72
to 163, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2025, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

FAEEXER

MREZFERREBAMANERHE R
HAHGEAVBBRNERZASEENSE
H - BLFTREEEAMNERZEREAMBR
XRHAERRETUEE HMNTEHE
LERZIIMEREBNER -

Key audit matter

HEERSR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMETERRNMAEERREER SR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FE W B 5 BR X EY R E FT A

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to
the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
estimation of impairment losses entails a significant degree of
subjective estimation and assessment.
HRERESEFNERYT G BERREEMEE
B2 UMBREBEEGESRRREEN B LA
FE-WBEMABALAEKESEFRERAREZEIE -

As disclosed in the note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted
to HK$19,073,000 as at 30 June 2025. No allowance for credit
loss has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2025.

4R A B T SR 2R M RE19PT B BE - 202546 A30H ¢
BRBEREENFEKESRIMEB ST A19,073,0007%8
TC o BV E20255F6 H30R IEFE - WRBEREEBERE -

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of
provision for impairment based on information including credit
profile of different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, expected timing and amount
of realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going trading
relationships with the relevant customers. Management also
considered forward looking information that may impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances in order
to estimate the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.
EEEBRBIARAEFHGERAMI BWE ZHERNE
oOBERELE  FRAAKENTADRMHRESE U
MEREEFPOBERIHREEHEERE ZRTN
AT E M RO EEE R R R & T E R BB E TR
BERARTZEEP XN ARAERERNOAEMLEER
A REE RN R =D R R R (ke

We focused on this area due to the management’s estimation
of impairment on trade receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
ZMEIHERE VAR ERBEEMEYEEKE S RNIL
REMCEEBERAMENRAETGEZ I RERSEXR
EIE B P BT AR AT

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
recoverability of trade receivables included:

BPIAAFEE S REFEN T RO N2

° Obtaining an understanding of how the expected
credit loss on trade receivables is estimated by the
management;
THERBNMMULEEERKESERNERES
B8

° Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the supporting documents and the credit
term granted;

i 3 TR RO HEE B W E B RR KRR e B AR R X i
LRERNERGREEYA

° Challenging the information used by the management
to determine the expected credit losses by considering
cash collection performance against historical trends
and the level of credit loss charges over time;
HERERARETEREEBFRNAARLEHR
H-2PeZRRelRBREELBENELL
NR—BEREANEEEEKT

o Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement
by comparing against historical management’s actual
write-offs;

LGB B R A MR - DU R B IR B A
T

. Discussing with the management on their assessment
based on the business relationship with customers
in relation to overdue trade receivables with/without
settlement; and
HEBENRBESERBETPNEBBERMERN
BB/ RESHBHERE SRENTMG: &

o Examining on sampling basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables by customers after the
reporting period.
MERAIFEENEPRBREMREENESE
WK IE o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminated threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR REMREBEZRGETERR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED BAERENETw

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine M EEZEZE S B BN EEH » I 5 T B0
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated t:FEBEH ARG AM B RENEL T A E
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit = - & i Ak 78 82 T 4% T 18 o B 1974 1% BAD )
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or SR M ZFFIE  BRIBERIER T oF
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely AW BEZEEE  REEHEE LB T
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated i\ & FE B A E R PR E P B ML =B E K H
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would EBEMEREBBELNARMNE  BHRFARE
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such  TEFER & R AMHZ FIHE -

communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED HBMETMEBAERA A
Certified Public Accountants HES AT

Lam Chun Sing IR BE

Practising Certificate Number: PO6998 2 B EZ R - P06998
Hong Kong, 26 September 2025 BB 2025F9H26H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

# Z=2025F6 A30H I E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTHER FA T
Revenue I = 6 151,280 152,279
Cost of sales & KA (58,385) (58,766)
Gross profit ER 92,895 93,513
Other income, gains and losses EUA - s & EE 7 6,797 6,194
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BEAFEFABZZEHE
at fair value through profit or loss EZAFERS(&E) 5,453 (13,095)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets HERAFEFABRZ
at fair value through profit or loss SmEEMNKE(FE) 116 @)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment property &Y ¥ 2 A FEKZE
(&5 18) 798 (434)
Distribution costs 7§ P A (25,859) (27,463)
General and administrative expenses — R RATE (56,932) (54,417)
Impairment losses recognised for inventories Bt 1% & FTHE R 2 B (B &5 18 18 (25) —
Impairment losses reversed for loan receivables i & U & X EE R R 1B B 5 28 21
Written off of other payables o & 2 B sH 1,827 —
Written off of loan receivables FEUE 3R M 8H (48) —
Finance costs B 75 A AR 8 (334) (505)
Profit before taxation B B AT 3% R 9 24,716 3,812
Income tax credit Frigti g & 11 2,344 1,912
Profit for the year 7 F B F 27,060 5,724
Other comprehensive income/(expense): H2EW A (X H) :
Item that will not be reclassified to profit B TrEEN D EE BB
or loss: IHH :
Remeasurement of defined benefits pension B EFEF 415 il 2 iR KB F
plans 26(0) 3,541 11,841
Item that may be reclassified subsequently HENEF D HEERDZ
to profit or loss: EHE
Exchange difference arising on translation of INETFREMEEZ
foreign operations MEH =58 15,507 (1,627)
Other comprehensive income for theyear AFEEHME2EmW A (B %) 19,048 10,214
Total comprehensive income for the year REEZH WA EE 46,108 15,938
Earnings per share BEREF
— Basic and diluted —BERR&EE 13 HK8.05cents &l  HK2.18 cents L

FT78E163 B FTE < Mt A Itk F 47
ZHKER D o

BMBHRE

The notes on pages 78 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 7 F& T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 14 45,237 37,717
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 7,587 6,176
Investment properties WEYE 15 13,830 5,530
Retirement benefit surplus RKIE A 2 8 26(b) 20,622 17,665
Other receivables H e U FRIE 19 2,952 3,752
90,228 70,840
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 18,770 20,255
Trade and other receivables FENE 5 I H h BR K 19 43,809 36,263
Loan receivables JiE U B =X 20 2,684 2,628
Financial assets at fair value through ERAFEFABERZSR
profit or loss BE 17 10,539 417
Tax recoverable JFE UG B 3R 2,838 2,705
Cash and cash equivalents BehReSmE 21 138,707 109,308
217,347 171,576
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables JERE 5 REAMER 22 47,314 43,521
Contract liabilities EHBE 23 29,081 25,917
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 4,263 3,199
Warranty provision RERE 25 1,284 1,259
Tax payable FET B SR 36 36
81,978 73,932
Net current assets RBEEFE 135,369 97,644
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBAR 225,597 168,484
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 24 3,485 3,072
3,485 3,072
Net assets EEFE 222,112 165,412

EEEEMARAT 205555 (3



iR B BB R ()
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

202596 A30H 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTHER FB T

Capital and reserves BAR®EE
Share capital % A 28(b) 37,503 31,253
Reserves M 184,609 134,159
Total equity ESBER 222,112 165,412

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 77 were approved and ~ SB72E 77 B FT &k 2 42 & B 15 3R = B 1R 2025 4F
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 September 2025 andare 9 A26 HHE E S HtZ MIFHE )% - W hH T
signed on its behalf by: BEERKRESE

CHAN KOON WA
B &
Chairman

E

The notes on pages 78 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial 578 =163 H Fr &k « Mt Bt H4r & B E R K
statements. ZHEBE D ©
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mERAERE R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#HZ=20256 A30H IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

Share Share Capital Translation Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses equity
S RAEE BAGE ERfE R ER RARER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THET THAL THT THET THET
(note 28(c)())  (note 28(c)(il))  (note 28(c(ii)
(MsE28)))  (FiaE2s(o)i)  (F =t 28(c)i)
At 1 July 2023 2023 7A1H 26,044 806,741 966,807 3,782 (1,668,781) 134,593
Profit for the year KEZ R - - - - 5724 5724
Remeasurement of defined benefits & 2 # T 44 (1 # 2 R £
pension plans = - - - - 11,841 11,841
Exchange difference arising on WEBREMEEL
translation of foreign operations EHEE - - - (1,627) - (1,627)
Total comprehensive income AEEZARALE
for the year - - - (1,627) 17,565 15,938
Issuance of new shares upon RERGOETHRILRE
placing of shares less transaction 2 3 B A&
costs 5,209 9,672 - - - 14,881
At30June 2024 and 1 July 2024 FA2024F6 A 308 &
2024%7A1H 31,253 816,413 966,807 2,155 (1,651,216) 166,412
Profit for the year KEE %A - - - - 27,060 27,060
Remeasurement of defined benefits & & 5 T 48 v | 7 R £
pension plans BF - - - - 3,541 3,541
Exchange difference arising on NEBREFEEZ
translation of foreign operations EHERE - - - 15,507 - 15,507
Total comprehensive income KEEZANALE
for the year - - - 15,507 30,601 46,108
Issuance of new shares upon REROETHRLRE
placing of shares less fransaction X S A&
costs 6,250 4,342 - - — 10,592
At 30 June 2025 R2025%€6F30H 37,503 820,755 966,307* 17,662* (1,620,615)" 222,112
o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately — * W ERBRPAKGEMBMRARZREREE

HK$184,609,000 (30 June 2024: HK$134,159,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The notes on pages 78 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

#7184,609,0007% 7T (202456 A 30 H : 134,159,000
BIT)

FT8E13EMB T RUFHEATHHE
ZHRER S o

EEEMARAT 2025558 (D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

# Z=2025F6 A30H I E FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025F 2024 %
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt 5 FER T T
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZEHER
Profit before taxation B 5 B s 24,716 3,812
Adjustments for: P
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1%¥ - BE M RE 2 ITE 9 11,260 9,401
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEEZNE 9 4,096 3,743
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  WE L&FEBE
equipment 691 128
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair & A FEF ABH 2 £ /b
value through profit or loss BEZAFEUWES)
&R (5,453) 13,095
(Gain)/loss on disposal of financial assets at fair &% A FE ABEZ
value through profit or loss CREEN (W) EiE (116) 2
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment properties &% & ¥ 3% 2 A FE (W),
B8 (798) 434
Gain on lease termination LItHEWE (15) @)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 8 334 505
Warranty provision for the year FNRERE (99) 159
Impairment losses recognised for inventories  FL1F & 52 2 il (B &5 18 18 25 —
Impairment losses reversed for loan receivables i & U B T HE 32 &
1B (2] (28) @1
Written off of other payables H fth B A 2 W SH (1,827) —
Written off of loan receivables FE UL E 70 2 138 48 -
Interest income w8 WA 7 (4,217) (3,952)
Operating cash flows before changesin & EZS¢EFHANELER
working capital EHE 28,617 27,299
Decrease in inventories GFEZ2RDP 3,116 2,712
Increase in trade and JEWE 5 R H MR 2
other receivables 0 (7,119) (3,902)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and ENE S REMERZ
other payables o, Gt 4) 6,219 (8,203)
Net movement of retirement benefit fund BRIKEH 2 FE 3,107 (5,334)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEZENCHD) 783 (5,240)
Net cash generated from operations RELFMB RS FR 34,723 7,332
Income tax paid BT H 2,379 (73)
Net cash generated from operating REERMEE2HESFE
activities 37,102 7,259
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

#HZ=20256 A30H IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
2025 ¢ 2024 F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FExT FAT
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZEHER
Additions to investment properties REREME (6,990) —
Purchases of property, plant and equipment A EBW % - W E & &R #E 14 (15,924) (12,496)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant BEEWME BELREBME
and equipment RIE - 22
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAFEGTAERZ
through profit or loss TREE (6,819) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HEZRAFEFABRZZ
at fair value through profit or loss EMEEMSIE 2,266 513
Advances of loan to third parties ME=ZFBNER (2,713) (2,693)
Repayment of loan from third parties REFE=ZHHEFRER 2,713 2,908
Interest received B U F B 3,326 3,320
Net cash used in investing activities RETEMEZRSFE (24,141) (8,426)
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHZ2EHER
Net proceeds from issuance of shares BOREMSZFHRIE 10,592 14,881
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE 21(b) (4,026) (3,665)
Interest paid 2 F & 21(b) (334) (252)
Net cash generated from financing METEMB2REFE
activities 6,232 10,964
Net increase in cash and HeRReEHEEN
cash equivalents FRE 19,193 9,797
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FMHEESRE2EEH
of the year 109,308 100,760
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes iR g B 2 & 10,206 (1,249)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FHESRESEE
of the year 138,707 109,308

The notes on pages 78 to 163 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

ZHRKE D o
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e WA AR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

1.

GENERAL

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The ultimate holding company of the
Company is Innovative City Investments Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and owned by Mr. CHAN Koon Wa.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of
the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 July 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability”

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards Volume 11°

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and  Amendments to the Classification

HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future, except for HKFRS 18 which will impact the presentation of profit
or loss. The Group is still in the process of evaluating the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 18.
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ire MR R K (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. TESHHEHEK

INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
includes all the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) as
issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for defined benefit retirement plan and
certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at
fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The material accounting policy information is set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company, entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFHHEw

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer. A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised. When the contract includes a
significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEETHERmw

INFORMATION (continued)

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products and systems and related software licensing) based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and the Group
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers control of the
cultural products and systems and related software licensing to a
customer. Sales of systems and related software licensing is a single
performance obligation. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time.

The revenue from provision of installation service is recognised over
time as the installation service creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

The revenue from provision of maintenance services is recognised
over time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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B BB mR M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil

Buildings on freehold land 50 years

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the
relevant leases or 50 years

Plant and machinery and 10%-50%

communications networks

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEETHERmw

INFORMATION (continued)

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment property also includes leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
property is measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
and are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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B BB mR M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

INFORMATION (continued)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on
a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on
the consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of use assets.
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B BB mR M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

INFORMATION (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price
to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

88 Kantone Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025

REBEREEA @

HEERE

REERKAHY AEERZB RN
HEMNKRAEERLFEHERBE - i
HERBENNEHAET  IFAEERS
EREERRAMNEEERNEFE
BENKEE -

HEMNKEIE

B € 1 3K (B 45 B & 1 /9 B € 50
MAEFEREAEERE

e WBEEEKLEXMENAEHEE
5 5% (2 PR B 4 B A B9 48 Bl B
ETRAE)

e REMNSKEEEFRBEHAZES
XMW EE:

e AEEAEWEETEBERMNT
BfE: &

e REHRRAEEGITHREE
BEIEHER  RIFHENHEE
1

y
e

o

il

REE B S AR RRE SR
REEN KA

AEERGEMBRARARAKEEERE
2 REFHAE -

HE XK
WHRATER AEEEKHEEF
FR—REFHEAK:

s ZREBHABBENER-—BEXZ
BEHBEEENEMNEAHERE
K

. EEREHEN ENOHLBEER
BEBAYEOEBEE 0 LEA
RBREEANOERERTEE
R T (B E -



“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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ire MR R K (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as a
separate line item. Dividends from an investment in equity securities are
recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEBHERw

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEETHERmw

INFORMATION (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation ; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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B BB mR M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFHHEw

INFORMATION (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may stil be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEETHERmw

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease liabilities
and amount due to the former ultimate holding company are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of
financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions
that result in such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ’profit before taxation’ as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

3. FEEHHEXw
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFHHEw

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when
it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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“re B AR R BT A ()
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEETHERmw

INFORMATION (continued)

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in
profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

AEERMNZEEDMIRER T EZLE
RRERZXABRE —FWHAE2RK -
ITEREARECEBRERAFERD
RERARRNARAEST REAEIR
BREFERED KRR -

HEEEEBIMBHRE  UZKE
REEWAIINZER (SNE)ET 2R
TRXHEAZEXRER - REE Y
TR NONESIEZERIER RZA
ZEXREHME - WMIEEBHEBORF
BRANEENERRER  AZER
MEMBRE D IR B PR - Wk
EREENATFERGIBENEME
mR PR MZERNEMRES
DR EAM 2 E RSP ER - AINEIR
BERAGFEZIFERER TEERN

b S @& 3
g

REEBHARENBREEBHAME
CELREZBRDRNEELHRERER

REINGEEMBRER AEEEK 2B
ERRBENREREATERH 2 EAE
EMERAEE 22 REREVET) -
BRAWAR B TRREE T IEEXHR
H BRIFPAEETAERE RZBER
T RAEAXZERZER - IELZ
ELEZRWA)IREmEmk SR
RS (EESHET) R BINE
BRhER Eiz@eaxHRZE
o R

EEEMARAT 2025555 99



ire MR R K (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEFTHHERw

IN FORMAT'ON (Continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees
in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-administered
and funded pension scheme in the United Kingdom. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final salary of
the members at retirement and their length of service. The scheme is
closed to new members since 1 January 2008.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “administrative expenses”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring cost or termination benefit are recognised.
Net interest expense/(income) for the period is determined by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/(asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are
recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in accumulated losses and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:

(i)
(i)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(0

(i)

(i)

v)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

3. FEEHHEXw
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND 4., ERHAERETAEE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

Classification of inventories

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Revenue recognition

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction
of performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from
sale of cultural products, systems and related software. The
Group carefully evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in
contract and/or sale order with a customer and assesses when
the control of the goods has been transferred to the customer.
In addition, the Group also assessed whether the Group is
acting as the principal (i.e. whether the Group has the primary
responsibility for the sale of goods, bears the risks of loss and
obsolescence, and also has full discretion over the goods). The
directors of the Company have determined that the control is
passed to customer upon the goods are delivered to the agreed
destination. This also is the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

4., EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 ERIR @

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed and considered that
the sales of systems and installation are one single performance
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time
(i.e. when control of the systems and software is transferred
to the customer). The Group delivers products to customers
after installation of customised softwares in the systems. The
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right
to use the software and no update or upgrade of the software
is required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales
of systems and software and related installation are assessed
by the management to be not distinct in the context of the
application of HKFRS 15 as what being delivered to the customer
is a combined product with customer specifications.

The Group sells large telecommunication equipment and
software that need to be installed at customers’ premises. As
management considered that the hardware installation service
is a very simple procedure the equipment can operate and
function as normal way and the customer can choose to install
the equipment by themselves or by third party service provider,
the installation service and sales of equipment are distinct in the
content of the application of HKFRS 15. Revenue from provision
of installation services is determined by management to be
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs the installation service. The Group
recognises revenue in relation to the sales of telecommunication
equipment of a particular point in time (i.e. when control is
transferred to the customers).

The Group signed contracts with customers to provide
maintenance over a period of time. The customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs the maintenance service,
therefore, revenue from provision of maintenance service is
recognised over time.
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4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment property located in Hong Kong as at 30 June 2025 is
stated at fair value based on valuation report, issued by Stirling
Appraisals Limited, by using market comparison method.

Investment property located outside Hong Kong as at 30 June
2025 is stated at fair value based on valuation reports, issued
by Shackleton Blackmore & Taylor Limited, by using direct
comparison method.

In determining the fair values, the valuers have based on property
valuation techniques which involve certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market.

In relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market condition.

The carrying amounts of investment properties as at 30 June
2025 were HK$13,830,000. Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are stated in note
34.
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4., EXRHEREFTIAEE
M2 ERIR @

4. SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment allowances on financial assets (including
trade and other receivables and loan receivables)
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are not assessed individually. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix
is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables and loan receivables based on ECL. The Group
assesses the ECL for each of the other receivables and loan
receivables individually based on the financial position and the
economic environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and loan receivables are disclosed in note 5.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature.
[t could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$18,770,000 (2024: HK$20,255,000).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5. R IT A

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FA T
Financial assets TREE
At fair value through profit or loss ERAFEFAER 10,539 417
At amortised cost b7g: X1 IDN 184,451 139,373
Financial liabilities eRasE
At amortised cost bi7g: XTI N 47,314 43,521
Lease liabilities HEAE 7,748 6,271

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, bank balances
and cash, and trade and other payables. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Aw

Credit risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk
of trade receivables is low based on the sound collection history of
the receivables and the economic environment the debtors operate.
Therefore, the ECL rate of the trade receivables is assessed to be
closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2025.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment of the borrowers operate. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of the remaining
loan receivables is low. And, provision of expected credit loss on loan
receivables of HK$80,000 (2024: HK$105,000) has been made.

Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan
receivables during the year is as follows:
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HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

F#&IT FHIT F&IT

At 1 July 2023 202347 A1 A - 127 127

Reversal of impairment losses 3 (B[] $ — (21) 1)

Currency realignment B — O M
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R2024%6 A30H &

202497 A1H - 105 105

Reversal of impairment losses DERIENEE - (28) (28)

Currency realignment BT E . 3 3

At 30 June 2025 R2025%6 A30H — 80 80
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Aw

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the Group believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s other
receivables.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings amounting to
HK$138,707,000 (2024: HK$109,308,000) and other receivables
with Champion, the former ultimate holding company, amounting to
HK$13,501,000 (2024: HK$15,142,000), the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables consist
of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and
geographical areas. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and the compliance of loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Aw

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRERE @

Within Total Carrying
Effective  one year or Between Between undiscounted amount
interestrates  on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows at 30 June
—FRH ABE  R6A30A
ERA= BEH —-Z2-f% “ERE  BRERHE ZIREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B TET TET TER TET TET
2025 20256
Financial liabilities at & H R A &
amortised cost ZERMEE
Trade and other ERESREMER
payables - 47,314 - - 47,314 47,314
Liabilities at amortised Z#E M A E
cost 28
Lease liabilities HE&E 3.8-5.25% 4,503 2,856 740 8,099 7,748
51,817 2,856 740 55,413 55,062
2024 20245
Financial liabilties at REHN T2
amortised cost JEMARE
Trade and other payables  JEfHZ 5 R 2 {1 R 3k - 43,521 - - 43,521 43521
Liabilities at amortised cost 1% # # Ak AR 5t &
286
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.1-5.25% 3,412 2,322 854 6,588 6,271
46,933 2,322 854 50,109 49,792
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Aw

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to loan receivable and lease liabilities and
amount due to the former ultimate holding company.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposits and bank balances
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 25 basis points (2024:
25 basis points) increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 25 basis points (2024: 25 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2025 would increase or decrease
by approximately HK$347,000 (2024: HK$273,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. £ T Aw

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity investments
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the
values of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity price
risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 17).

The Group’s listed equity investments classified as financial assets
at FVTPL are listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the close of
business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of the
reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during

B A< {8 4% L B

B A B 48 Bl 7 B B 48 20K 7 K (@ Rl
ERBEEEIMERBRAREQRIFET
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the year were as follows:

30 June 2025 High/Low 1 July 2024

2025 £F 2024 5

6330H BE/HIE& 7H1H

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BE - BEEEHY 24,072  24,874/16,441 17,669

AEEEBRENERNETERSTRA
REBENEREHRMABHEEH
P e A o

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the price
movements and the changes in market conditions that may affect the
value of these equity investments.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. 2@ IT Ew
Equity price risk (Continued) % 7B 4% 3 B ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TRINTEFMEHEMEERIFAE R
possible change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all KT AEARBEEZEZBRT  HERA
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on WEZAFERBRESERREEHE 2K
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. RE - DiEREHRNEEETE -
Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
after tax and Increase/
Carrying decrease/ (decrease)
amount of Increase/ (increase) in in other
financial (decrease) accumulated components
investments in price losses of equity
RR B % Fll A 18
i/ Gt 4) Hith Rz
SRBE BEEMm S REFEE HEBD
iR H {E CR4) R (M) #i Ckd)
HK$’000 % HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FAT ERid FAT FE T
2025 2025 F
Equity securities listed ~ E&FB T2
in Hong Kong % A 35 5 10,539 51.29 5,406 -
(51.29) (5,406) —
2024 2024 F
Equity securities listed ~E&B LT 2
in Hong Kong N 417 37.63 157 —
(87.63) (157) —
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) ST Ew

5.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group’s financial results
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of
the Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does
not engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the
Group’s policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching
foreign currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

BREAREEEERKE @
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2025 2024

2025 F 2024 4F
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =i BE 8%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET FABT FET
Euro B T 20,893 (161) 17,531 (213)
United States dollar ETT 6,968 - 6,193 —
Hong Kong dollar it - - — (60)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 5. €M I Ew

Sensitivity analysis

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate
system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation between
Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered insignificant
by the directors of the Company and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to a 5%
(2024: 5%) increase and decrease in Euro against each group entity’s
functional currency. 5% (2024: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit
before taxation where Euro strengthen 5% (2024: 5%) against each
group entity’s functional currency. For a 5% (2024: 5%) weakening of
Euro against each group entity’s functional currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

BRE DT
SEERTIEABEZIIERBREERT
RETL - EHBREXKGIT BEFERAR
78 7T B8 55 7T BE ROK B 2 B 7S R B AR O
B bt 3 42 A BB R D AT ©

TRAFMARPAEEERBER LA SEER
FER2EEERZER FART A%
(20245 : 5%) 2 B RRE © 5% (2024 F :
5%)AREEBEABMNEZEEABR
EHONERBEAEAZBREL X K
REEEEBYIIEERSEAEEE 2
Tl - FEESNMEBEAINEFEZ
RENEKIBER @ WHINEREEESH5%
(20245 5%) B HFHE 2 HEEHA
B U TEEBRRNME I SEEES
I B & B T (5% (20244 : 5%) B & %
B B AT U A B IS8 KR A o W BR T K
EEBEERBIYE R 55% (2024 F :
5%) Al HEBHZEREREE ZER

27 g
R °

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T T

T

Euro B\

1,045 866

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of financial assets
and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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ol DL AN
6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WE KD EER
INFORMATION
(a) Revenue (@) W=
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for KEERAEERRIATEFHE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external EmRREHEBEBE2z2E R ERER
customers. FRIE o
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: AEBZWEBE T SE
2025 2024
20254 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT T T
Revenue from contracts with customers BB EHRELERIFE155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 EFAEAKmBRBACE
Revenue from Contracts with Customers P& #H s
Technology — Sales of systems including ~ Bl —Z & (B
software licensing LIER S 72,621 80,446
Technology — Rendering of installation B — R MR R agE
and maintenance services R 53,181 47,278
125,802 127,724
Leases — Operating lease payments that HE-BITHKEHENHK
are fixed
Technology — Leasing of system products Rl —f & ZFE 7 25,478 24,555
151,280 152,279

EEEMAERAT 20256 F% 11D
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERTEER@®
INFORMATION (continued)

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of LESBENIRBEFEEEY B &K
internal management reports prepared in accordance with HER 2 & 5T BUK il E 2 A B
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly BEEREHERN YHARAES
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief (Bx2REARE)THERMNU
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources PEERTEDELFEEKE -
to segments and assessing their performance. Three operating REBVBEREEANFERLELE S
and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments o AEEMKE RO RE D BT
are identified as follows: D RUAT=4:
e Sales of cultural — includes income from trading of s SHEXILEMR — BEX(EM
products cultural products B 52 WA
e Technology: System  — includes income from sales of o Bli%: AM — RIEHERR
sales including systems including software HE (B (B M
software licensing licensing and provision of B AT FEETHE R
and services installation and maintenance &R R ER
services HERE)
Z YA
e Technology: Leasing — includes income from leasing of e R - HER — BEHERS
of system products system products FE EmZ A
Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation DEREEESDHEBMERZ
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest BRI ADE S EE - T REN B
income, finance costs, fair value changes of financial assets A BBKA  BAFEF AR
at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties, LERMEERKREVENLTE
unallocated income and expenses such as central administration ) Ao Z2WARRAZ (0
costs and directors’ salaries. This is the measure reported to RITHEARESHIE) o bt #
the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource FTERERREGEERIER
allocation and assessment of segment performance. A EDEZRE -
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

6. W ko EER@®

Information regarding the above segments is reported below: ER LS BERMZFHRAOT ¢

Technology
M
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing of
cultural licensing system
products and services products Consolidated
RIHE
HE (BHEEHS HE
XbER RBHFERERE) REER RE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FHBT FHB T
Year ended 30 June 2025 B Z202566A30H 1t
FE
REVENUE W g
External and total revenue HINHE 4B W w
Recognised at a point in time RE—EHHEIER - 72,621 - 72,621
Recognised over time & B ) HE 3R - 53,181 25,478 78,659
— 125,802 25,478 151,280
RESULTS ES
Segment result DEEE (1,068) 13,887 3,406 16,225
Interest income B WA 3,306
Fair value gain on financial assets BRAVFEFABRZS
at fair value through profit or loss BEEZAFERZE 5,453
Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ H & A FEAH ABRHR
fair value through profit or loss ZemME W 116
Fair value gain on investment properties 1% & ¥ % 2 A F & Wz 798
Finance costs B 75 AR AR (334)
Unallocated expenses, net KA —F5 (848)
Profit before taxation % 150 A A E 24,716
Year ended 30 June 2024 B Z202456A30H 1t
FE
REVENUE W g
External and total revenue HINHE R B E
Recognised at a point in time RE—ESHEIER — 80,446 - 80,446
Recognised over time F& 5 i FE 2R — 47,278 24,555 71,833
— 127,724 24,555 152,279
RESULTS ES
Segment result DEEE (470) 16,151 2,537 18,218
Interest income FEHA 2,798
Fair value loss on financial assets BRAFEFABRZE
at fair value through profit or loss MEEZAFEESE (13,095)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at i & & A FE7H A Bz
fair value through profit or loss ZeMmEZER @
Fair value loss on investment properties & & ¥ % 2 A FEEE (434)
Finance costs B 75 R AR (509)
Unallocated expenses, net KA —F5 (3,168)
Profit before taxation

G E b 3,812

EEEEMARAT 20255 |1/



118

ire W HmaR MR (8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WERTEER@®

INFORMATION (continued)

Technology
B
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing
cultural licensing of system
products  and services products Unallocated Consolidated
ARHE
HE (B4 HE
XER BFAERERSE) RAER APE ®E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR TR FTHET
Year ended 30 June 2025 B Z2025%6A30A L&
FE
Amounts included in the measure of TABEDEREF S
segment profit or loss: BEz&%:
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- -BERSELZ
equipment nE - 9,355 1,874 31 11,260
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZME - 3,563 533 — 4,096
Impairment losses recognised for FEREERRR
inventories 25 - - - 25
Impairment losses reversed for loan BUREFRE
receivables (28) - - - (28)
Year ended 30 June 2024 HZ2024F6830H 1t
5E
Amounts included in the measure of FAEEN BRI
segment profit or loss: BRzZeE:
Depreciation of property, plant and nE- -BERSEZ
equipment nE - 7,903 1,498 — 9,401
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZME - 2,894 385 464 3,743
Impairment losses reversed for loan e E TR A
receivables TR 1) - - - 1)
No information about segment assets and liabilities is HRZEFEHETAREHREHETE
presented as such information is not regularly provided to the ERERAFENETERD B R
chief operating decision maker for resource allocation and KBGO BUEZNEESEE
performance assessment purposes. ERBEZER-
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6.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

6. Wk EEH@®

(c) Geographical information (c) wHEEHR

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location
of assets respectively:

AEBESHREFPREEMER
oz BERkFERDEED NS
IR T

Revenue Non-current assets
& ERBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BZE6H30ALEE MA6H30H

2025
2025 &£

HK$’000
FTEX

People’s Republic of China ~ FF A R £ F1
(the “PRC"), including Hong ([ E ) B#EF

2024 2025 2024
2024 F 2025 &£ 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FER FAT

Kong and Macau B MR - — 9,793 —
Europe (mainly United BN(EZEAERH
Kingdom (“UK”) and (&R kE
Germany) ) 151,280 152,279 56,861 49,423
151,280 152,279 66,654 49,423

(d) Information about major customer

Revenue from customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows:

d EEFEFZEH
RIBEFEAFEBERHEER
BUZB10% M &SI T -

2025 2024
2025 2024 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER T T

Customer A Z2EA

- 16,574

Customer A contributed revenue from system sales including
software licensing and services.

No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 30 June 2025.

XKEEPAZKBERREZREE
(BRERMEFTERRE) -

R2025F6 A30H IEFE  )RA K

BE-—XPzUmBEEEANK
%2 10% °

EEEBEAERAT 20254 F3f
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

7. EtA - MEREE

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 5

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FB T

Bank interest income RITH B WA 3,326 3,196
Interest income from loan receivables JE U B F A B U A 24 171
Others Eith 3,447 2,827
6,797 6,194

Note: Others included rental income from investment properties, net interest income
from retirement benefit schemes and other sundry income.

8. FINANCE COSTS

e : HtbBREREREDENES KA  RIK
BRIEEF R S R AN

8. B # A

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT T T

Interest on amount due to the former ultimate JERT AT BRI IR AR FNTA 2

holding company A2 - 253
Interest on leases HEZFE 334 252
334 505

1 2@ Kantone Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025
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9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRELAIER

2025 2024
2025 2024 %
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx THET

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after BB s R R R GEA)

charging/(crediting): NTNEIBRBER:
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) EE2ME (MFFE10() 1,019 980
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration BEEXRA(TRIEEZESZME) 72,368 75,754
Retirement benefit scheme contributions other iR /R 4& FI| 5t 21 it 5% (B =& 41)

than directors (note 26) (P 5£26) 2,605 1,412
Total staff costs BB ARE 75,992 78,146

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 1% - BiE L RE 2T E

included in general and administrative GtA—MEITHZHA)

expenses (note 14) (MF3E14) 11,260 9,401
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in =~ EFAEEEZ I E Gt A —

general and administrative expenses (note 16) & 1TE S tH A1) (M52 16) 4,096 3,743
Short-term lease payment EEHEEMNRK 2,330 1,993
Auditor’s remuneration 1% S1 R0 B &

— Audit service —ZER 900 900

— Other service —H fth AR %5 - 210

Research and development costs recognised as 73 /4 7 X & fff 7t & 9 3 AL

an expense (included in general and KEFA—REITEREZER)

administrative expenses) 2,177 2,300
Cost of inventories recognised as expense EERAIHZHEERAR 27,690 30,470
Gross rental income less direct operating HEEEMEZHSWAR

expenses (including repairs and maintenance) HEZEZEE M (BELEN

arising from rental-earning investment property R %) (765) (641)

EEEEMARAT 20255 %% 2]



AR B AR R M et (B8)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202546 A30H 30 JUNE 2025

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.E5ME - BESHF AL

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EEEBEBEAEBZME

EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors and chief executive’s (@) ESRESTTHRAEZ
remuneration B &

R AE BB Q5K 5383(1) 1K &
PEI(BEESFNEER RAE
2 EHESMEe 2 ERBEE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors)

Regulation are as follows:

m

Year ended 30 June 2025 B Z2025F6H30H ILFE
Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors’
Fees Dbenefits payments contributions emoluments
ek RBRIGXRE BHREF BEEZMe
He HtERN BHzES T EH R BE
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TExT THE=R THERT THERT TERT
(W1 0))
(B = (1))
Executive director BOTEE
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa RAEE L4 10 169 - - 179
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (notes (i and (v)) # #55 & +
GEIOPA 240 - - - 240
Non-executive directors *HTES
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica (note (ii)) MHHF L
GEAD) 240 - - - 240
Mr. LIU Ka Lim (note (iv)) BREEAE
(2% (v)) - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTEES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RIS E 120 - - - 120
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada ERELT 120 - - - 120
Mr. IP Wai Lun William EEfmE4E 120 - - - 120
850 169 - - 1,019
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEM L BEE5HF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEEBEEBAEBZEHS
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR ()

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Year ended 30 June 2024 HZE2024F6H30H ILFE

Performance Retirement
Salaries related benefit Total
and other incentive scheme directors’
Fees  benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
ek BIEXRRE RN  EEMe
e HithEhl ZhzRe sHEIE R ksl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr FTHEx FHET FET FHET

(note (i)
(BF&E(Q)
Executive director HITESE
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa R E 4 - - - - —
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica H#E Lt 480 - - - 480
Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEERLE 140 - — - 140
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 2NBEE 120 - - - 120
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada EREL L 120 — — — 120
Mr. IP Wai Lun William EEMLE 120 — — — 120
980 - - - 980
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Notes:

0] The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and the performance of the
directors of the Company.

(ii) During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

(iii) Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica was redesignated from non-executive director
to executive director on 8 January 2025.

(iv) Mr. LIU Ka Lim resigned on 8 January 2025.

(V) Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica resigned as executive director on 2 August
2025.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors were for their services as directors of the
Company.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.ESME - BESHF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST REEBEBAEBZME
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR ()

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments b) REEFHFEE
The five highest paid individuals of the Group do not include any REBRERRFATIELEES
(2024: Nil) director of the Company. The aggregate emoluments 15 (20244 : E) K ARIEMES -
of the five (2024: five) highest paid employees of the Group, not RNEFEBAE (2024F : AR) &
being directors of the Company, are as follows: BHEE(LIEARFES) 2 B
DTN ¢
2025 2024
20254 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET T T
Salaries and other benefits e kEMEF 5,458 4,858
Performance related incentive payments 12 T{ERIVIE W 2 84 1,695 5,035
Retirement benefit scheme contributions & 1A 48 | 51 &1 £ 2& 489 355
7,642 10,248
Emoluments of five (2024: five) employees were within the AH(2024%F  AR)EREZEEN
following bands: F T3 EE :

Number of employees

EEAH

2025 2024

2025F 2024 4F

HK$1,000,000-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0007% 7£-1,500,000 7% 7T 2 2

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& 7£-2,000,000 7 7T 3 —

HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7£-2,500,0007% 7T = 3
There were no amounts paid during the year (2024: Nil) to the FA-AEEREREEERTA
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement THEARER ZEEFRREIM

from employment with the Group, or inducement to join. A B2 M 32 A 5RI8 (2024 6F < ) o
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A
11. INCOME TAX CREDIT M. BB ER
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Current tax: BN EARR IR -
— UK corporate income tax credit —REPERMEHER (2,656) —
— Germany corporate income tax —EEPEMSH 357 921
— Malaysia corporate income tax —BRATREMSH 19 257
(2,280) 1,178
Under/(over) — provision in prior years: BEFEZBERR
(HBREREAE) -
— Germany corporate income tax —EEEMEH - 1
— Malaysia corporate income tax —ERAERREMRER (64) —
— UK corporate income tax —REPEMSH - (3,091)
(64) (8,090)
Income tax credit Fris ik & (2,344) (1,912)

EECEMSHIAREE BB 2 T E
AR Tl $225% (2024 4F : 25%) 2 Fi &
FHE o

UK corporate income tax is calculated at 25% (2024: 25%) on the
estimated assessable profit derived from UK.

The research and development (“R&D”) expenditure credits, which HER R L2 20% (2024 F : 10%) B

equal to 20% (2024: 10%) of the amount surrendered, are available for
carry forward to offset against future corporation tax liabilities.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Germany, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 31.43% (2024: 31.43%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Germany.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Malaysia, the Group is
subject to corporate income tax at 24% (2024: 24%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Malaysia.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

M.EHRER@®

AEEZHARGEEZREMEERK
mRZBHADE MERAOT

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation B B AT & 24,716 3,812
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 12 %& /& M55 £ 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) (2024F : 16.5%) 5t & 2 Fi 18 4,078 629
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBERLE 2
operating in other jurisdiction WBARIZTREMEZZE (728) 509
Tax effect of income not subject to tax or RE A BE M = H AR K
exempted in other jurisdiction ERRBBWAZRBEE (1,503) (2,164)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for BERBEKEENNB A2
tax purposes MG E 805 2,980
R&D expenditure credits MEBBHBESR (2,656) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRANERERZHRIEEIE
recognised (2,276) —
Over-provision in respect of prior years HREFERMNBRER (64) (3,090)
Others Hitp - (776)
Income tax credit for the year FHANMEHRER (2,344) (1,912)

EEEEMAERAT 2025555 12/
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. R &
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June HE2025F6A30H IEFE - I KK 2
2025 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting EBREEMKRE BREHTHER
period (2024: Nil). IR B R B E (] AR B (2024 5F : f&) o
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 5 R & F
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the RARHEEAEBEZERERAEN IR
Company is based on the following data: BRIEREGEHE
2025 2024
2025F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Profit for the year AR s A 27,060 5,724
000
Number of ordinary shares ZBERKGEE T &
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for &+ & &R E A& F] 2
the purpose of basic earnings per share TmAR g T E 335,989 262,434
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 30 BN A 220256 A30H K&202446 A
June 2024 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there VHEFETEEZETELELZBR W
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both years. MEFEzGRETSBINEGRERR

A AF R o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.Y%¥ BERRE

Plant and
machinery and
Land and communications

building networks Total
ME - e
T RETF RBERSK &5t
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT T T FAT
Cost RAE
At 1 July 2023 R2023%F7 A1H 14,492 312,314 326,806
Currency realignment P& 5 38 & (123) (2,157) (2,280)
Additions nNE — 12,496 12,496
Disposal & - (153,256) (153,256)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R2024F6 A30H &
202497 A1H 14,369 169,397 183,766
Currency realignment HE 5, 38 2 1,301 15,504 16,805
Additions NE 2,294 13,630 15,924
Disposal & - (15,121) (15,121)
At 30 June 2025 202546 30 B 17,964 183,410 201,374
Depreciation and impairment EEBE
At 1July 2023 R2023%7HA1H 4,265 087,447 291,712
Currency realignment P& 5 38 & (36) (1,922 (1,958)
Provided for the year FRNEB — 9,401 9,401
Eliminated on disposal i 5 B 9 BR - (153,106) (153,106)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R2024F6 A30H &
20247 A1 H 4,229 141,820 146,049
Currency realignment P& 5 A% 383 12,875 13,258
Provided for the year FREE 31 11,229 11,260
Eliminated on disposal S B I R - (14,430) (14,430)
At 30 June 2025 R202596 A30H 4,643 151,494 156,137
Carrying values REE
At 30 June 2025 7202546 530 H 13,321 31,916 45,237
At 30 June 2024 7R202496 A30H 10,140 27,577 37,717
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.¥1% - HERKZEw

(Continued)

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT
The carrying values of the Group’s AEEBZYEREREE
properties interests comprise: B
Freehold properties held outside Hong Kong REB AN E R B KA
FRZME 11,058 10,140
Leasehold properties held in Hong Kong REBERNHEERE M 2,263 —
As at 30 June 2025, property, plant and equipment of the Group with 202566 H30H ' ASEE 2 RIREE B
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$11,058,000 (2024: HK$10,140,000) 11,058,000 7T (2024 4F : 10,140,000/ 7T
have been pledged as collaterals for the defined benefit retirement ZME - -BMEAKBEHEREARE
scheme of certain subsidiaries operated in UK. LB R E T M B A T8 E R E R EK

AHEIME RS

The Group leases out a number of plant and machineries which are AEERBLERELHABHBE K&K
fully depreciated under operating leases. B EEE2HNE-
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. R EWE
Property
located outside
Hong Kong
NREB
BAoh Z ¥ %
HK$'000
FAT
Carrying value at 1 July 2023 R2023F7 A1H ZBEEE 6,013
Fair value loss on investment properties HEYMEZ AN FEEBIE (434)
Currency realignment PE H & (49)

Carrying value at 30 June 2024 and at 1 July 2024 4202456 A30H Rk R2024%F 7810 =2

MREE 5,530
Additions nNE 6,990
Fair value gain on investment properties WEYWEZ AFERS 798
Currency realignment M X A& 512
Carrying value at 30 June 2025 A2025F6 A30H 2 RHE B 13,830
Note: i
The fair value of investment properties of the Group amounted to HK$13,830,000 as AEEBE 5:2925_¢6 H30H Z#& é% %_Z NARAfE
of 30 June 2025 has been valued by using direct comparison method. {B13,830,000 7T IN i A B 4% b BUR 1T BB -
The properties located in Hong Kong and outside Hong Kong are leased out for rental IR EEREEAIINGDEBMEGAEET X
income and had remaining lease term ranged from 2 to 8 years (2024: 9 years). E £ %ﬁi f) WA - E R & F B F2-84F (2024
9 o
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20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. EREEE

Land and Motor
buildings vehicle Total
T RIEF RE FER
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
T T T T FAT
Carrying amount RESH
At 1 July 2023 K2023%F7 A1H 1,714 3,272 4,986
Additions NE 1,636 4170 5,806
Depreciation expense mEEHR (1,299) (2,444) (3,743)
Lease termination WIERE (827) — 827)
Exchange adjustments MEH AR (1) (35) (46)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 202456 A30H
% 2024%781H 1,213 4,963 6,176
Additions NE 1,671 4,076 5,747
Depreciation expense WEEHR (859) (3,237) (4,096)
Lease termination WIEHEE (835) - (835)
Exchange adjustments e XA & 109 486 595
At 30 June 2025 A2025%6 A30H 1,299 6,288 7,587
For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZ2025F6H30H
ILtEE
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ HEHHAELHEMBES
and other leases with lease term ArER - HESEHE
ended within 12 months 1218 B 7 4 1,730 600 2,330
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML @A 2,620 4,070 6,690
For the year ended 30 June 2024 H 2£2024F6 A30H
IEFE
Expense relating to short-term leases ~ S HAAER A EH
and other leases with lease term AOER HEEHE
within 12 months 1218 B MAs R 1,563 430 1,993
Total cash outflow for leases MERe R LBE 2,933 2,977 5,910

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions.

EBEMBEFEAN AEBEHEBZ @R
RERAEUNXFKEEKEL -BOA
HEEE R BT FESF - HOKERY
RERHE LB ZRETRENRRR
R

EBREEARAR 2025F F 1

131



ire W HmaR MR (8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202596 A30H 30 JUNE 2025

17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

17. B8 A FEHFFABREZ 2 S

MEE

2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong REBH EMRAKE
(note () (B EEG) 10,539 417
Note: B 5 -

[0] The fair values of the listed shares in Hong Kong are determined based on the

0} B8 LD 2 DB TR X P AT R

quoted market closing prices available on the Stock Exchange. MEREE °

4

18. INVENTORIES 18. 7 &
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT F&T
Raw materials R %} 7,158 7,525
Work in progress & & 2,947 3,657
Finished goods (notes) BIAk o (M 7E) 8,665 9,073
18,770 20,255

Notes: AT -

(i) Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stone and
artifacts) of HK$550,000 (2024: HK$567,000) which are held for trading and
resale in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, all cultural products of the Group were stored in

a secured warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.
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BEZXLER(BEEAERREMM)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

18 INVENTORIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2024, the Group engaged the valuer, Access Partner
Consultancy & Appraisals Limited (“Access Partner”) to assess the current
market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2024 based
on the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current
condition of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural
products as at 30 June 2024 by Access Partner, the management of the
Group determined that no significant variance between net realisable values
and their carrying amounts as of 30 June 2024 and no impairment loss was
provided for the year ended 30 June 2024.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 30 June 2025, the Group engaged the valuer, Access Partner to
assess the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30
June 2025 based on the grading and classification of the cultural products and
the current condition of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the
cultural products as at 30 June 2025 by Access Partner, the management of
the Group determined that their net realisable values were below their carrying
amounts as of 30 June 2025 and the shortfalls resulted in further impairment
loss of HK$25,000 for the year ended 30 June 2025.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the valuer, the carrying amount net of impairment recognised so
far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements, was the best estimate of
the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. #E wm)

B et : ()

(i)

MRBEE2024F6 AR ILLFEZHA
MBHREMs  A5BEEEEGEEMDER
BEBRTEEARAR((ERE]HZSE
MIbERZRMED BB  URER
Tk - 7 (E & 814315 XL E f 7R 2024
FOANAZHEMBEME - RETRE
MN2024F6 A30 8 #H XL E MM EE - A
CEEEEREAN SR FEEEREE
2BV EERER  RIEIRE E2024
F6HA30B ILFERERIE -

MRBEE2025F6 AR ILFEZHA
MKHREMs  ASBECEEGHEMDER
BHZEXCERZBMUEDBEZHE
AREIBEFRRT  FEE2H1434 X E
20256 A30H 2 MM IS EE - 1R
BEEER202556 A0 W XLEMN
HE ASEEEERTEHZ2025F6A
OBEMAIZEFEERALEEE mMAH
ERHENEHE2025F6A30H IEFEMHE
— F R E 18 525,000 T ©

ARBDEERR KEEMETHANR
& RNEEHBREARR ZREHRE®
REEZEEEAXCERATKESEZ

RIEMGE -

19. ENESZ R EMERR

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FB T
Trade receivables (Note) JE U E 5 BR 3k (BT %) 19,073 11,381
Other receivables JrE WS E A BR FR 27,688 28,634
46,761 40,015

Represented by: AR5 & IES R
Current portion B HA EF 19 43,809 36,263
Non-current portion JEBNHA 261 2,952 3,752
46,761 40,015

EEEEMARAT 20255%5% |33



B BB mR M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

202546 A30H 30 JUNE 2025

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. BIRE 5 & H MR F @

(Continued)

Note:

The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180
days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

B &E

AEEREESEFPETHARZEERR - BRIE
BREZER RERERIEE TARBRD
SREAMGETFTEFLNFIOBEIBOHZEER-

BEREZERHNBEREEER RNREHTE
RRBEEZEAHZRESITZIMT

2024

2024 F

HK$’'000

FHET

0-60 days 0-60 H 15,973 10,630
61-90 days 61-90 H 2,884 661
91-180 days 91-180H 203 90
Over 180 days @180 H 13 —
19,073 11,381

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales management
team would assess the potential customer’s credit worthiness and define credit limits
accordingly for the customers. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly with reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation.

Details of credit policy impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year ended
30 June 2025 and 2024 are set out in note 5.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented
based on past due status at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RENEFAHEPH  AEBEZHBHRIEEER
EREFEEERPZERE  YHEMEER
FzFEE BMTEFzZEEERE2EHBHE
ERLHEREEENBEATHEREEMNBEN
EEEMAETERN -

B B 20254 2024%F6 A30H IELFEEMEKRE 5
BR X {5 B BUSROR B AT S 1B JR BT 55 o

BN R EBRE RN L2572 BERE 5 KRN
BREBEEER) ZRESTAT :

2024
20245
HK$'000
THT

Not past due 8 HA

Less than 1 month past due wmE LR —{EA

1 to 3 months past due BmE—Z=={@A

3 to 12 months past due mH==+=-@EA

18,857 11,140
- 152

195 25

21 64

19,073 11,381
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=
20. LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. & 15 & 3%
2025 2024
20254 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER T T
Loan receivables JE U B =X 2,764 2,733
Less: provision for impairment losses B MR EE B R E (80) (109)
2,684 2,628
As at 30 June 2025, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) R2025F6 A30H @ E W — & & &R A
of approximately HK$2,684,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,628,000) (2024 5 : —ZfEFRA) B E X (PR 7B 5
were due from one borrower (2024: one borrower), unsecured and = B E518) /5 #72,684,0007% 7T (2024 4F :
with personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated in #492,628,000/87T) - ZEERAEEREA K
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rate at 8% (2024: BEAER - FERKRERAUARE
8%) per annum with maturity date within 12 months from the loan draw (TAR®DE - ERERNE T FF
down date. K B8%(2024F 1 8%)  BIHIA AE X

ROEHEN T —EAR-

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS N.BEeERREEH

The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits RekReEREEIHAA=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the AR zZEBERREARE
Group. FAZRE -

Certain bank balances and cash of HK$68,000 (2024: 75 #168,0007% 7T (2024 £F : 220,00078
HK$220,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely T ZETRITHEBKRRESTIUAA
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance REFE - m AR IE7] R HER
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions MBEEBNEHBREE - B EEH
imposed by the Government of the PRC. ZEBESEAZTPRBNE®KZ I

PE B I P AR R o
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2025% 6 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continves) 21. R ERRESEH @

The table below shows the detailed changes in the Group’s TRHFIWAEBEREESFTE
major liabilities arising from financing activities, including both EFZEMNEH(BERE &I
cash and non-cash changes. e FH -
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 July 2023 R2023%E7818 5,011
Financing cash flow: MERSRE:
Repayment of lease liabilities EERHEAE (3,665)
Interest paid =ENEESS (252)
(3,917)
Currency realignment BERAE (47)
Other changes: Hih 25 :
Interest expenses BT 252
Lease termination WIERE (834)
New leases entered RN E 5,806
5,224
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 A2024%F6 A30H K%2024%F781H 6,271
Financing cash flow: MERSRE:
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEAEG (4,026)
Interest paid BB (334)
(4,360)
Currency realignment ERAE 606
Other changes: Hin g :
Interest expenses B W 334
Lease termination KIEHE (850)
New leases entered RIS FEE 5,747
5,231
At 30 June 2025 A2025%6 A30H 7,748
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=
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2.ENEZREMER
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Trade payables JERTE BRI 4,129 3,308
Other payables (Note) JRE 1 L A BR 3R (BT %) 43,185 40,213
47,314 43,521
Note: It mainly represents amount due to the former ultimate holding company, Mick: HF ZHEBMAIRAERD A FIE - BT
accrued expenses and accrued directors’ bonus to certain subsidiaries BRARAERBKLENETHE AR M
operated in UK. WEGTESERS -
The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice EREZEFARNBEHEERFIREEAR
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: HE2FZ2REDMEWT
2025 2024
2025 2024 FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
0-60 days 0-60 H 3,323 2,610
91-180 days 91-180H 806 698
4,129 3,308
The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 60 BEEMZEEHNTI0BEEBNH -

days.

EEEEMARAT 20255%E% 13/
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23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23.EHEE
2025 2024
20254 2024
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Receipts in advance from customers RIRERBE 2 BRE S KB
for provision of services 29,081 25,917
Movements in contract liabilities ERNEEER
2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FA T
At 1 July R7A1H 25,917 31,402
Currency realignment PE H & 2,381 (245)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of 12 1 AR 75 78 R IR
billing in advance of provision of services BYAEHAEIEMN 27,873 26,029
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result RERNERT AFEA
of recognising revenue during the year SRAENIREME
that was included in contract liabilities B ERD
at the beginning of the year (27,090) (81,269)
At 30 June M6 HA30H 29,081 25,917
The Group received upfront fee for its maintenance services as part EAEERBREREBEN—3H A&
of its credit risk management policies. The Group typically transfers to EmEgEcERAKRBERER  ~ %
revenue after provided the maintenance services. ERESETKBEREREGZEHE
U A e
All the amount of billings in advance of performance as at 30 June R2026F6 H30H * T A B #) 2 T8 B 3K
2025 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. BEFAR—FABBRABEA -
As at 30 June 2025, the aggregated amount of the transaction price R2025F6A30H ' RIEAEEREFEEL
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group’s PEERTERANREENRSERBER
existing contracts is HK$33,437,000 (2024: HK$35,158,000). These 33,437,000/ 7T (2024 4F : 35,158,000/87T) ©
amount would be recognised as revenue when the services are REBBEREGOERAREFRMERS
provided by the Group over the life of the contracts to the customers, e i SR UL SR I8 B U 2 - I 7B HA 5% R IE
which is expected to occur over the next three years. RAR=ZFRBERBWKE -
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20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 2. HEAE
2025 2024
20254 2024 F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEAE:
Within one year —F R 4,263 3,199
Within a period of more than one year —FULEETBBME
but not more than two years 2,759 2,234
Within a period of more than two years MFE FETBBERF
but not more than five years 726 838
7,748 6,271
Less: Amounts due for settlement within B MBI BEE TERNE
12 months shown under current liabilities 1218 A R B HAE B A 3RIE (4,263) (3,199)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months ~ 3E/RE) & EE T8 /R 1218 A
shown under non-current liabilities BB HEENRE 3,485 3,072
25. WARRANTY PROVISION 25. RERE
2025 2024
2025F 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx T T
At 1 July ®R7B1A 1,259 1,123
Currency realignment B AR 124 (23)
Provided during the year FNF R - 159
Utilised during the year FANEHR (99) —
At 30 June K6 A30H 1,284 1,259
The warranty provision represents the management’s best estimate RERFEEREEEREAEEBRIEN
of the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on system HEBRERMZEBEME RETES
products, based on prior experience and industry average for defective Emt_EAAREHMYNEERTTA
products. L 2 & EFGE -
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. 3R k& F =t &l

2025 2024
2025 F 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FA&T
Retirement benefit contributions to MAEEZ FEERTE A
the Group's defined contribution scheme R R AR AR 231 211
Retirement benefit contributions to MAEE 2 EEEFTE X
the Group’s defined benefit scheme ZRIRE AR 2,374 1,201
2,605 1,412

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the “MPF”)
scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme charged
to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF scheme
by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

/‘ 4@ Kantone Holdings Limited Annual Report 2025
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. 3B K18 Fl 5t &l @)

(Continued)

During the year, the total expense recognised in consolidated
statement of the profit or loss amounted to HK$231,000 (2024:
HK$211,000) and represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company in UK operate an
administered and funded pension scheme in the UK. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final
salary of the members at retirement and their length of service.
The scheme was closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The contributions which are determined by a qualified actuary
on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit
method are charged to the profit or loss. Under the scheme, the
employees are entitled to a pension between 1.67% and 2.50%
of final salary for each year of pensionable service at the age of
65. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present
value of the defined benefit obligations as at 30 June 2025 were
prepared by Buck Consultants Limited, Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA),
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (“FIA”) (2024
Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)), for accounting reporting purpose.
The assumptions which have the most significant effect on the
results of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on
investments and the rates of increase in salaries, pensions and
share dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group to actuarial
risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and
salary risk.

FA-RirABaRER AT H
231,000 7t (2024 F : 211,00078
L) BASEERZEFEIRAEE
R EIED 2 BT HR -

AABIETETHAENB R AR
Y—EBTEELERZENRE
FIFH &l o BT 8Ty iR B R IR IR
CEREREMNRERE FHEETE
RER KM@ F o b ET E] B 200341 A
1HRTEIFKELA-

BESEEBEMEREFEME
RAETHEBE ZMHK DA
wm AR HIBR  RIBSET S BE -
AR FEESRFEIRKE &8
N T &K FH 21.67%ZE2.50% °
RNEEI EAE A A M RIKERAF -
&z st 88 E R E RN A E
REZRBEMMETRN202556 A
30H # 77 I A Buck Consultants
Limited 2 Rachel Downs A A ( 2
FEMHEEASE  [RERE
i i & &R & 8 ) (2024 % : Buck
Consultants Limited 2 Rachel Downs
AXN(EEBEEMBEERGE))
e AEETEAREEHE ¥
HEAREKEEXEZRRXDEAE
AR EDRERE®  RASER
B2 THIE -

HHXERAKRFEEATERERE
R mRERR  MERRE - &
SRBEkFHeRRE -
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

EBIREF 8 @

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality
corporate bond vyields; if the return on plan asset is below this
rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has relatively
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and
real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities,
the trustee of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

Interest risk

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return
on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

Salary risk
The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

20256 H30H 30 JUNE 2025

26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Discount rate g
Expected rate of salary increase TEEE © iR
Future pension increases RIRKRE FHIE

26. R K8 A 5T 2 @)

FRAZIZEBERRET :

At 30 June At 30 June
2025 2024

A 20255 R 2024 &
6H30H 64308
5.45% 5.10%
2.80% 2.95%
3.00% 3.15%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June 2025 by Mrs. Rachel
Downs (FIA) (2024: Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)) showed that the
market value of the scheme assets was HK$272,984,000 (2024:
HK$270,713,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 108% (2024: 107 %) of the benefits that had accrued
to members.

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016, the Group has
agreed to contribute GBP340,000 per annum increasing at 4%
on each 1 July from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has been arranged such
that the plan will receive an income stream of GBP400,000 per
annum at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July thereafter.
As at 30 June 2025, the duration of the plan liability is 10.5 years
(2024: 11 years).

Rachel Downs A & (3 B 15 B Bl i 2
& R& 8) (20244 : Rachel Downs
AK(KBABEMBEEFSE)E
T ZE2025F 6 A30B 2 B E (HEEE
T FT 81 & E 2 ™ B &272,984,000
7 7T (2024 £ : 270,713,000 7T )
MzSEEZREEBEARSEES
FE1S 18 F 2 108%(20244F : 107%) °

RIE B A2016 65 A31 8 2 Kk 1&
P8 AEEREB2018F7 A1
B# REME7A1B RZtEE
& 340,000 £ + F F 1 M4% o Uk
SN BERZET Bl L R A B

S EH 8 B2018F7 A1 H #E
H % & @7 A 18 Y E400,000 5
g2 WA BEIEIMN4% o 1R2024
F6H30R  ZiEEAZEHA
10.54F (20234 : 114F) -
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AY — =
26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. R K18 I 5t & w0
(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) =R A S @
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or HEEBARAGTERNGEER
loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined LEMEPEWREPHERA LS H
benefit pension plans are as follows: m
2025 2024
2025 2024 4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET T T
Scheme administrative costs &1 11T B A (3,241) (1,786)
Net interest income B A F B 867 585
Components of defined benefit costs NI = B R ZE R MK
recognised in profit or loss AN A RKEB (2,374) (1,201)
Remeasurement of the net defined BNt EEHEENAGEFHE

benefit liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts 5t 21 & & 2 B3R (T 8 &

included in net interest expense) BRFAFBREZ 82
) (11,725) 5,603
Actuarial gains arising from changes AR RBEBEEAZ
in demographic assumptions 1B E W= - 5,078
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from B BREEHEELAL
changes in financial assumptions EE W (EE) 10,941 (3,957)
Actuarial gains arising # E’i REMEXZRE
from experience adjustments ez (E18) 4,325 5117
Components of defined benefit costs REMEERA(XH)
recognised in other comprehensive TR 2 TE FE 4R M B AN AE K
income/(expense) e 3,541 11,841
Total R 1,167 10,640
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. 3R K18 A 51 & @0
(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEAGE @
The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial B A & B 2 5F 5818 AR K AT 8 &
position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its EMELEZSBEMFARGTB
defined benefit pension plans is as follows: RS - AR EAT
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
THEx FAT
Fair value of scheme assets SEEECZATE 272,984 270,713
Present value of funded obligations BEeAEZRE (252,362) (253,048)
Net asset arising from defined EREHNAEMEEXZ
benefit obligation BEFE 20,622 17,665
The Group expects no contribution will be made (2024: REBEAKR T —HBFEEH
GBP168,000 (equivalent to HK$1,659,000)) to the defined benefit & [\ E AR A A El 4t 5k (2024
plans during the next financial year. 4+ 168,000 % £ (16 % 71,659,000
HBIL)) e
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. 3R k&8 F 5t &l @
(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) =R A S @
Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation EREEMNEEZREZHNOT

are as follows:

2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
Opening defined benefit obligation F R AE 253,048 268,607
Currency realignment P& H % 21,939 (2,231)
Interest cost K B Bk 2 12,974 13,507
Remeasurement (gains)/losses: B E (W) S
Actuarial gains arising from ARBREHAEES
changes in demographic assumptions B E W= - (5,078)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from WMBBREESMEEZ
changes in financial assumptions BE (kR EiE (10,941) 3,957
Actuarial gains arising from KERAEMEAZRER
experience adjustments U &= (4,325) (5,117)
Benefits paid FFr 4+ 4@ ) (20,333) (20,597)
Closing defined benefit obligation FETFE R E 252,362 253,048
Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: FEIEEZAFEZFHNAT
2025 2024
2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FAT
Opening fair value of plan assets FUHEEEZATE 270,713 268,587
Currency realignment e H & 23,595 (2,308)
Interest income F B U A 13,841 14,092
Scheme administrative costs ST EI1T BB AR (3,241) (1,786)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts HEEEZER(TEIE
included in net interest expense) BEEAREZHFEZ
Ea-c) (11,725) 5,603
Contribution by employer EEHK 134 7,120
Benefits paid i < 48 7 (20,333) (20,597)
Closing fair value of plan assets FHABNEEZATE 272,984 270,713
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(Continued)

26. R K8 A 5T 2 @)

HAABEERMEHETAB AT

The fair value of the scheme assets at the end of the reporting

period is analysed as follows: BT :
2025 2024
2025 2024 5
HK$°000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
Equity instruments (Quoted) Ewm T A GRE) 139,679 162,096
Debt instruments (Quoted) BT AGRE) 126,359 90,715
Other assets (Note) HAth & & (M) 6,946 17,902
272,984 270,713

The actual return on scheme assets was negative HK$1,125,000
(2024: positive HK$17,909,000).

Note: The balance mainly represent the cash and cash equivalents.

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined obligation are discount rate and expected salary increase.
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions
occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all
other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/(lower), the defined
benefit obligations would decrease by HK$6,052,000/(increase
by HK$6,052,000) (2024: decrease by HK$6,389,000/(increase
by HK$6,389,000)).

If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by 0.25%,
the defined benefit obligations would increase by HK$2,584,000/
(decrease by HK$2,584,000) (2024: increase by HK$2,755,000/
(decrease by HK$2,755,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions
may be correlated.

FrEIEE 2 EREHR A E 1,125,000
7 7T (20244 : 1E17,909,000 # 7T) ©

MaZ: kEBRTERAXRBEERRAL S
& -

EERATEEZEABERRR
MIRENTEHFHEIER - AT HR
EOMRENBEHNZEHER
RERABEAREESHMEMERR
R TEMmMERE -

BRI = EF (T k)25 1@ E 26
TE #8 | Al A ¥ 15O 26,052,000
7T,/ (3% 16,052,000 7T) (2024 £F :
6,389,000/ 7T, (1 116,389,000
EIL)) °

mEHRHLEEX A (T K®)
0.25% ' & % & M & #& 45 1 1
2,584,000 7t/ (B 42,584,000/
7T ) (2024 4F : # 412,755,000 7T,/
(B 42,755,000/ 7T) ) °

MRS BRT LT AME B
BUBREDTATRES MU E
25 BURE 54T T —E R R E
EENEEERED -

EREBEARDTE 2025F F 3
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 26. 3B K18 Fl 5t &l @)

(Continued)

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis,
the present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit method at the end of the
reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligations liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined
a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Group’s qualifying employees
in the UK, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the global HR benefits and human resource
consulting firm authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority. The employees are entitled to post retirement cash
commutation. Details of the scheme are set out in note 3 and
note 26(b) to the consolidated financial statements. No forfeited
contribution under UK retirement benefit Scheme is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

At 30 June 2025 and 2024, there were no significant forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the schemes
before they are fully vested in the contributions and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in the
future.
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27. E 18

RREPTER  NEBERDAZH
A B 1B & #959,017,00078 JT (2024 4 :
59,017,000 7T) * A] B{EH# 35 B 18 2 )&
Fl o HRKREETER B & 2 i F 2R - #K
VWEERECHBEEAE HEHEER
A 45 PR HA 7 AT 45 B o

27. DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$59,017,000 (2024: HK$59,017,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 28. R A K f# &

AEEGARAREEBOZF
MEFERGEHBEZHABRARES
BAERBHRA - KARARRAZ
18 51 & 2 1 F 9) & F REE F

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in BRI FESS ©
note 35.
Number of
shares Amount
ii&vig 4= ot
‘000 HK$'000
T FH&T
Authorised share capital with par value of A EEO0.178 T
HK$0.1 each: IR
Balance at 1 July 2023, 30 June 2024, K2023F7H1H -
1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025 20246 4308 -
2024% 7 418 k2025
6 A30H z & & 5,000,000 500,000
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=)

AV

28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

28. % A= K {18 )

Number Share Shares Capital
of shares capital premium reserve Total
vk g=| BA&R BROIRE RAFEE @5t
‘000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T THT THExT THExXT THERT
Issued and fully paid share capital fREEOAB TR E BT
with par value of HK$0.1 each: R R
Balance at 1 July 2023 R2023F7 A1 8 2 &8k 260,443 26,044 806,741 966,807 1,799,592
Issue of shares through placing (note 1) 3% i@ g & 1M 3% 77 B 15 (BF5E1) 52,086 5,209 10,156 - 15,365
Share issue expenses BHIRMNEA — — (484) - (484)
Balance at 30 June 2024 R2024F6 A30H &
and 1 July 2024 20247 A1H 2 &% 312,529 31,253 816,413 966,807 1,814,473
Issue of shares through placing (note 2) & & g & 1M 3% 77 B 15 (K 5£2) 62,505 6,250 4,500 - 10,750
Share issue expenses BEIRNEA — — (158) - (158)
Balance at 30 June 2025 2025% 6 A30 A Z &tk 375,034 37,503 820,755 966,807 1,825,065
Note 1: On 17 June 2024, the Company issued and placed 52,086,000 MIE1 : 20246 A178 © XA G A EFK
ordinary shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.295 per fic & i % 0.295% T M) B & &
placing share to independent third parties, and raised gross proceeds RMBLE=ZFBETERE T
of approximately HK$15,365,000 to be used as general working 52,086,000 % < 2~ 7] ) i@ AR - 5
capital of the Group. & & & 4 %8 4915,365,0007% 7T #5
REREEN—REEES -
Note 2: On 13 February 2025, the Company issued and placed 62,505,000 fisE2 : 1202562 138 * N AR A EFK
ordinary shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.172 per fic & i 901728 T W B & B
placing share to independent third parties, and raised gross proceeds MBIYIE=FBTIRET
of approximately HK$10,750,000 to be used as general working 62,505,000 % R 2RI AR - 5
capital of the Group and acquisition of industrial premises in Hong £ & & 42 % 410,750,000/ JT #5
Kong. REREBRN—REEESUR
WHEALN BRI EYE -
() Share premium (i) BH=EE

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share
premium account are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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28. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from
the reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of 5 Ordinary shares
of HK$1 each into 1 shares in 2018) of HK$5 each by
cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$4.9
each share of the Company in 2018. The capital reserve
is available for distribution under the Companies Law of
Cayman Islands.

Translation reserve

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible
persons, including directors of the Company, Champion or any of
their respective subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe for
shares of the Company respectively. Under the Share Option Scheme,
Eligible Participants include any employee of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; also include
Related Entity Participants and Service Providers (collectively, “Non-
employee Persons”).

28. IR A K & & =)

(i) BEARGFEE
BN R AN A R R 20184F
AR mEE1E T 250 T
BEHBIBRZBGEAEDE
R2018F LA SHEHM A A
N BT AR4.978 T AR AR
ARBIEBRBTLZRGE
EMEEAZSHE EXRHE
AIRERSHSAREDIK

(i) EREE
ERREREREEBENE
BB RERGERES 25
ME Z= 58 o 2z 8 TR IR BT 523
FrE & s BRI o

20. lE I HEST 2

ARRIRBBEETE Bt 2EH
AT (BEALRF BEXEZAZE
AMBARCES) IERBREAD
R RBEBARE Z B - RIE B RAEE
2 AER2REESEARNTF  HEW
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29, & B HE E 8l )

On 29 December 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved
and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Schemes were adopted for the purpose (i) to enable
the Company to grant Options to the eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the growth and development of the
Group; (ii) to attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable
development of the Group; and (jii) to align the interest of the grantees
with those of the Shareholders to promote the long-term financial and
business performance of the Company. The basis of eligibility of any of
the eligible persons to the grant of share options shall be determined
by the board of directors (the “Board”) from time to time on the basis
of their contribution or potential contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. The Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from 29
December 2022.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. A nominal consideration of HK$1
is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time during a period as determined by the Board, which must not
be more than 10 years from the date of the grant. The vesting period
for options under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 12
months from the date of acceptance of the offer.

The subscription price in respect of any option will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the offer, which must be a business
day; (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the Offer; and (i) (where applicable)
the nominal value of a share.

The details of the principal terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme were summarised in the circular of the Company dated
30 November 2022.

Other than the share option scheme aforementioned and the share
award scheme (note 30) of the Company, at no time during the Period
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

30

No options have been granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme since their adoption. The number
of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme at
the beginning and end of the reporting year is 26,044,250 Shares,
representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Adoption Date (For
Related Entity Participants or Service Providers: 10,401,700 Shares).
The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the reporting year divided by
the weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue (excluding
treasury shares) for the year is zero (For Related Entity Participants
or Service Providers: zero). As at the date of this annual report, the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 26,044,250 Shares and the percentage of the issued shares
(excluding treasury shares) that it represented is 6.94% (2024: 8.33%).
The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme is 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. The remaining life
of the Share Option Scheme is 7.5 (2024: 8.5) years.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) since 23 December 2024.

The Share Award Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. It is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants.

The Eligible Participants under the Share Award Scheme includes (a)
the directors and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and any other person who is granted awards as an inducement to
enter into an employment or engagement contract with any of these
companies; (b) the directors and employees of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company (i.e. the
Related Entity Participants); and (c) service provider who falls under
the category or categories or who may meet the eligibility criteria as
specified under the Share Award Scheme.

The vesting period for an award under the Share Award Scheme is
generally for a minimum period of 12 months in order to incentivise
selected participants to remain with the Group, save for certain
prescribed circumstances in which the Board or the human resources
and remuneration committee may impose a shorter vesting period for
Employee Participants.

29.

30.

BRESE @
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B UREMEMERRBESEZS
RAFVEBAAOFANAL AR
AIMERAR MEAR LB E QAN
E=kEE(BABER2EE) RO
BREDRBAIIEERRNKAENTE
BREANRBHERS -

i B E TRBNEBEH —R&ED
RI12EAR USBEE2RELEET
AEBE EERXLEEBAT EF9
ZEZEGAAREELEERERENE
B -
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30. SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

31

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the tenth (10th)
anniversary date of the effective date of the Share Award Scheme or (i)
such date of early termination as determined by the Board.

As at 23 December 2024 (the adoption date of the Share Award
Scheme) and 30 June 2025, the aggregate number of awards available
for grant under the Share Award Scheme were 26,044,250 and the
service providers sublimit was 10,417,700 shares.

As at the date of this report, no shares have been awarded, cancelled
or lapsed under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption. The
selected eligible participants are not required to provide consideration
for being granted the award shares under the Share Award Scheme.

Other than the share option schemes and the share award scheme
of the Company aforementioned, at no time during the Period was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

2. 8XEHELZH
AEEMESBEEAA

RHEERCER AKERERMER
ETEFARE BERBEEGZR
BEBPFIVAAH  HIMBERMT :

At the end of the reporting period, the Group contracted with lessees in
respect of leasing of premises and certain equipment which is included
in plant and machinery and communications networks, which fall due

as follows:
2025 2024
2025 F 2024 F
Plant and Plant and
machinery and machinery and
Land and communications Landand communications
buildings networks buildings networks
BE - a5 5 - 128
TR EF RBEHZ T REF KA s
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTHAR FAT FAT
Within one year —FR 480 4,049 379 3,443
In the second year RE-F 520 2,104 440 2,274
In the third year RE=F 520 692 477 1,027
In the fourth year NEMNE 520 135 477 370
In the fifth year RERF 520 22 477 81
After five years FERFUE 1,351 - 1,716 -
3,911 7,002 3,966 7,195
AY ——
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS B.HEEALTRSF

MREEABREAEIBECERR
BEMA S HENIERAEEEHNH
BUMAR BRARAEFTMNLAR
SHEABE -TEEBRABHMMMOT

The key management personnel are those persons holding positions
with authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the directors
of the Company and the five highest paid individuals. Key management
personnel remuneration are as follows:

2025 2024

2025 2024 FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT F& T

Salaries and other benefits e kEAMmETN 10,169 9,709
Performance related incentive payments BRIERREM 2 RE 3,492 7,024
Retirement benefit scheme contributions B RAE ) 5T & 5K 708 624
14,369 17,357

EEEMAERAT 20256 F% 10D
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34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 34. A FEHFTE

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments and investment property measured as at 30 June 2025 on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair value measurement”. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date such as listed stocks, bonds, funds
or any assets that have a regular mark to market mechanism for setting
a fair market value.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Level 2 assets are assets that do not have regular
market pricing, but whose fair value can be determined based on other
data values or market prices.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable
inputs.

TRARKEMEESAE 2 AE@B
20256 A0 v 2B T A RIREME
AFE BEHEEEEMBRE LS
13RI AFEFZ2IMRAEZ=HAFE
B -EATFEFAEFDBEZERTIZ
EHERMABzE ARBE 2 AIBER
MEEMMETE  FBHOT:

E-EREE: ERAE - EREAK
5 B LA 4R R 2 o B ()0 £ AR
B % ER)ARBRERA R TIHEE
i & B R 1 (T (B 0 9 £ £
AERHBAETRT S £ H/ECF
EBE)HEATHE-

FE_ERAGEE RBEF_ELH AR
BOARENEEEBERZTEEGHA
g ATHAEATAHREAZE
EATE -F_EEERLEEHRT
LEBZEE HWHERAFEAREREMD
BEEEXMEMEE

E-ERAGE: RAEATHEBEEGA
BEBFTERFE-

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AFE F—EBHR F-EHR F=EB#HK
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA T FB T THT FB T
As at 30 June 2025 R2025%6 A30H
Assets BE
Investment properties "EME 13,830 - — 13,830
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAFEFAEGC SRHERE
— listed equity securities — ETRAES 10,539 10,539 - -
As at 30 June 2024 R2024F6 A30H
Assets EE
Investment properties "EYE 5,530 — - 5,530
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFABZZEMEE
— listed equity securities — FTRAES 417 417 — —
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34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair
value measurements are as follows:

34. 2 FEFTEwW

FRAZEFE-—BRAABENEZRER
BHHIIMT -

2025 2024

2025 F 2024 F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Investment properties KEME

At 1 July R+ A—A 5,530 6,013
Currency realignment PE & A% 512 (49)
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment properties R &Y% 2 A FE W% (EE) 798 (434)
Additions NE 6,990 —
At 30 June RKANA=1+H 13,830 5,530

Currency realignment is recognised in other comprehensive income in
exchange reserve.

All the gains or loss recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from
the investment properties and listed equity securities held during the
reporting period.

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

The fair value of the investment properties located in UK and Hong
Kong was derived using the market comparable approach based on
price per square feet or square metre observed in recent market prices
and adjusted for certain unobservable inputs including the adjustment
of the building age, location, fair value market rent and floor level to
reflect different locations and conditions.

As at 30 June 2025, the fair value of related investment properties
amounted to HK$13,830,000 (2024: HK$5,530,000). The fair value
as at 30 June 2025 and 2024 was performed by independent firms
of professional valuers, Shackleton Blackmore & Taylor Limited and
Stirling Appraisals Limited by using direct comparison method.

FE 3¢ 48 B 50 2Lt 2 T M 3 2 [ 4
GETE

AEERESTHEBNMAE REHER
BRARBEHRAFTENREMER £

RAEFERN F—EBHR F_EARK
F-ERzEALEEE -

EMUNEBRREEZRENVEZAR
BEDREROHTEERERGSZE
FRHRIFFTREBRAT S LBER
H YHETIABEEGAZE 215
Bk A AAEETSHSRERE
Z B AR - AR BRT [F) 3 B R
RS o

M2025F6H30H A EM XN
N i B B &13,830,000/% (2024 :
5,530,000 7T ) 720254 2202446 A
AN ARERBEYEXHEMEBA
Shackleton Blackmore & Taylor Limited &
Stirling Appraisals Limited £ F B £ t 8%
HEATIH(E -

EEEEMARAT 20255 ER 1O/
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34. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 4. A FEFTE®

Investment property Relationship of unobservable
held by the Group Valuation techniques & key inputs  Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FUBEGAYEE
FEERENRENE FERMRIEZEHAHE EXFABRBARE DMRABEZER
Investment property Direct comparison method Price per square metre, using market A slight increase in the price per
located in UK BEELBE direct comparable and taking into square metre will increase
MREREZEEME account the location and other significantly with fair value
The key input is price per square metre  individual factors such as age of the EHREEREH EFAES
TRHABBRT T AER property, which is HK$13,633 (equivalent 2 /¢ B B A 18 3E

to GBP1,266) (2024: HK$11,968
(equivalent to GBP1,212)).
FAMBIERELEMEL K 2
IEMERRELMMENEZRS
2 &F 75 KB R13,633E T
(HHZE 1,266 5 £) (2024 : 11,968
BILEER1,212 )

Investment property Direct comparison method Price per square feet, using market direct A slight increase in the price
located in Hong Kong B # L&A comparable and taking into account per square feet will increase
MURBEEZEBREME the location and other individual significantly with fair value
The key input is price per square feet factors such as age and floor level of EHRERBH EAES
TEBARBE AT LR KER the property, which is HK$4,300. AREEKREM

FAMEIEELEMEL R W2
URMEERSEMENREZERSE
M2z SFHKERBEL300ETT)
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. Z< 2 &) Bt # ik i &

OF THE COMPANY
2025 2024
20254 2024 4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T F& T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE U B BB 2~ A) FRIE 76,470 61,362
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR 2R 24,134 502
100,604 61,864
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables JiE U i BR 5K 1,618 1,215
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEHE 1,264 10,905
2,882 12,120
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables FE S E A BR 5K 14,728 18,254
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 5B B 2 A B 5K T8 10,152 10,581
24,880 28,835
Net current liabilities RBEEEE (21,998) (16,715)
Net assets EEFE 78,606 45,149
Capital and reserves BAREHE
Share capital % 2 37,503 31,253
Reserves (note) o 1 (BT 53) 41,103 13,896
Total equity R 78,606 45,149

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 September 2025

and are signed on its behalf by:

CHAN KOON WA
PR 8
Chairman

FE

KRB Z YR EKE R2025%9 A 26
BHESgAREETE  H T
BEREREE:

EEEEARAT 20255%% 109
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. 7K 7] Bf #& 4k )R & )
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note 1: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior years are Ml ARRARAFERBEFEZRFEED
as follows: mE

Share Capital Special Accumulated

premium  reserve reserve losses Total
BRE EXfHEE HiHE 2t ER &5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FTER FHExT FET
At 1 July 2023 MR2023%F7H1H8 806,741 966,807 195,874 (1,961,679) 7,743
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBEREOAZAE
expense for the year — — — (3,519) (3,519)
Issuance of new shares upon placing of g & B& 17 8 177 A% W0 5 & X
shares less transaction costs Z AR 9,672 — — — 9,672
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 202456 A30H K&
2024 7H1H 816,413 966,807 195,874 (1,965,198) 13,896
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEREEMZ B
expense for the year — — — 22,865 22,865
Issuance of new shares upon placing of it & % 9 % 77 #7 i% Wi 2= 2
shares less transaction costs SR 4,342 — - — 4,342
At 30 June 2025 A 2025%6 30 H 820,755 966,807 195,874 (1,942,333) 41,103
Note 2: As at 30 June 2025, the Company did not have reserves available for MizE2 : 202566 A30H @ AN A A I & A it 5
distribution which calculated in accordance with the provisions of the KEHE(RBEHASHESRARERARAR
Companies Act of the Cayman lIslands and the Company’s articles of HEERABNGTHE) (2024 : &) -

association (2024: Nil).
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36. fff B 2 7 & &

202546 308 K& 202446 A30H » &
ARAESHBRAB ZFHBUOT :

36. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2025 and 30 June
2024 are as follows:

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/  of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
ERTRARE ZMEL/ ARARFFERT
HEARER ERil g q-§4-1 BEXxRE R 7 TE {E b 41 TEEH
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 2024 20254 20244
Aspire Management Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
ERERRES US$2,636,320 US$2,636,320 REERK
ZER gl
2,636,320 3% 7T 2,636,320% T
Financial Vantage Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Inactive
BEEDHS ZERIER Eki1ET LEER
Infopage Limited UK Ordinary £1,000 Ordinary £1,000 100% 100% Dormant
£ EBR TR BELER
1,000 3¢ £ 1,000 38 8%
Multitone (UK) Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
ES £5,500,000 £5,500,000 REERR
ZER gl
5,500,000 % 5,500,000 8 %
Kantone Energy Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
ERERESERAT it HK$10,000 HK$10,000 BB
ZER TRk
10,0007 7T 10,0007 7T
Bright Origin Financial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
(formerly known as Kantone Logistics
Management Limited)
RERAEERAA BB LZER1ER TERk1BT RERR
(RIBERMEEEERAA)
M.C. Holdings Limited* Cayman Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
HEHS £5,500,002 £5,500,002 REER
EBR EBR
5,500,002 % & 5,500,002 5 £%
Multitone Communications Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100% Dormant
HE EERI00KE  T@R1005EE BEELEER
Multitone Scottish Limited Partnership UK Capital Capital 100% 100% Investment holding
S Contribution Contribution BEER
£300 £300
BEExRE BRRE
300 % & 300 8%
Multitone Communication Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Dormant
S £25,000 £25,000 BEELER
ZER gl
25,000 3% 85 25,000 % 8
Multitone Rentals Limited K Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100% Dormant
B EBRI100EE  LT@RI100ESE BELEER

EREBEARDTE 2025F F 3
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36. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 36. ff 8 2~ Bl & E @)

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/  of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAEE SEMELR/ EARFRERT
HEARER MR EXRE R < T 48 L A TEEH
2025 2024 2025 2024
2025% 20244 202545 20244
Multitone Electronics PLC UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding, design
o £3,830,107 £3,830,107 and manufacture
LZER AR of communication
3,830,107 3 & 3,830,107 5 % systems and
equipment
REER Rt REE
BERGREE
Multitone General Partner Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100% Investment holding
HE EBRI00KE  LT@ERI100EE RERR
Multitone Electronics Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Manufacture of
SRAD MR285,000 MR285,000 communication
Z i 17 285,000 3% 285,000 systems and
BRAEZLE SRAELLH equipment
EEBGROERZAE
Multitone Retirement Benefits Plan UK Ordinary £1 Ordinary £1 100% 100% Investment holding
Trustee Limited i LERIKE LA BEER
Multiton Elektronik GmbH Germany Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Distribution of
= €1,022,584 €1,022,584 communication
LER Tk systems and
1,022,584 8 7T 1,022,584 B 7T equipment
DHBERGERRAE
Paging Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Inactive
HE £1,100,100 £1,100,100 BERS
ZER Tk

1,100,100 % £ 1,100,100 % &%

Shenzhen Hengyu Science and PRC Registered Registered 100% 100% Investment holding
Technology Company Limited (note ()’ & capital capital BEER
RMB24,000,000 RMB24,000,000
BER ORI BB A A (F ()" AMEAARY HMERAARYE
24,000,000 7T 24,000,0007T
Abundant Success Trading Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Provision of consulting
(Macao Commercial) Limited pas MOP100,000 MOP100,000 services, research
KBS CRMIME) —ABRAR LERR L@RRPIE and development,
100,000 T 100,000 and trading of cultural
products
REBERBRSE  HER
HEAREEXLE
@
Wollaston Limited* Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
EETHS/ RN LZERIZR T@k1xEx REER
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36. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

36.f{B AT REm@

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/  of issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
ERTRAEE EMELR/ EAFFRERT
HEARER MR EEXRE R 2 [ & Lk A TEEH
2025 2024 2025 2024
20255 20244 2025% 20244
Sky Sign Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
REZERERAR" EBERARHS US$50,000 US$50,000 BEEK
ZER Tk
50,000 % 7T 50,000% T
Sure Beauty Investments Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
EEREERAR" REGARES US$50,000 US$50,000 REERR
EER Lk
50,000 % 7T 50,000 7T

Notes: B & -

0] Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 20 years commencing from [0) SN BE M - FHIH2003F 1017 B i
17 October 2003 and renewed for a term of 30 years commencing from 17 T T F W H2023F10A17H B EE
October 2023. =+&F-

* Directly held by the Company. * AAARBEERS -

For identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which affected
the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 30 June
2025 and 30 June 2024 or at any time during the year.

! EXAE

ERFMIIARBMBRARREAFEE
BEEAREBYUBKASEEEFEE
ARHLEZHBAR -

BB A B R 202546 530 B M 2024 4F
6A30H X FAEMEMEYETMER

.
75 75 o

EEEEMARAT 20255 5% 103



EFFHBERE
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Ay 173 E
RESULTS E 4
Year ended 30 June
HBZ6HA30RALLFE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 F 2024 4 20234 2022 % 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T FA& T FAT T
Revenue g 151,280 152,279 128,737 127,755 139,069
Profit from ordinary BREAI A EER
activities before taxation  #E #
Profit from operating activites Rt E 4L L EA
excluding other operating 2R TR F
items 24,716 3,812 9,646 5,018 7,354
Profit before taxation RR B A A 24,716 3,812 9,646 5,018 7,354
Income tax (expense)/credit T8 H (2 1), K% 2,344 1,912 48 (460) (1,665)
Profit for the year REERF 27,060 5,724 9,694 4,558 5,689
Attributable to: FEAG -
Owners of the Company ViN/NESIE RSN 27,060 5,724 9,694 4,558 5,689
Non-controlling interests IR AR R = - — — — —
27,060 5,724 9,694 4,558 5,689
Dividends f% 8 - — — — —
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENEE
At 30 June
A6 H30H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
2025 2024 4F 20234 2022 4F 2021 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHE T FAT FAT FAET
Total assets EERE 307,575 242 416 223,951 210,187 216,680
Total liabilities BEARE 85,463 77,004 89,358 76,908 109,017
Shareholders’ funds RES 222,112 165,412 134,593 133,279 107,663
Equity attributable to owners N2 B A A FE15
of the Company = 222,112 165,412 134,593 133,279 107,663
Non-controlling interests FEPEMR AR R - - - — —
222,112 165,412 134,593 133,279 107,663
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